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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Financial Statements



 
Corporate Office Properties Trust and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in thousands)

 
September 30,

2004
December 31,

2003
(unaudited)

 

Assets
 

Investment in real estate:
Operating properties, net $ 1,360,697 $ 1,116,847
Projects under construction or development 125,296 67,149
Total commercial real estate properties, net 1,485,993 1,183,996
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate joint ventures 1,094 5,262
Investment in real estate, net 1,487,087 1,189,258

Cash and cash equivalents 6,812 9,481
Restricted cash 10,760 11,030
Accounts receivable, net 10,278 13,047
Investments in and advances to other unconsolidated entities 1,621 1,621
Deferred rent receivable 23,383 17,903
Intangible assets on real estate acquisitions, net 67,083 55,692
Deferred charges, net 26,407 17,723
Prepaid and other assets 14,703 14,311
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net 2,579 2,010
Total assets $ 1,650,713 $ 1,332,076
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities:

Mortgage and other loans payable $ 947,332 $ 738,698
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 41,155 23,126
Rents received in advance and security deposits 11,519 10,112
Dividends and distributions payable 14,533 12,098
Deferred revenue associated with acquired operating leases 7,670 9,630
Fair value of derivatives 45 467
Other liabilities 7,115 7,768

Total liabilities 1,029,369 801,899
Minority interests:

Common units in the Operating Partnership 90,029 79,796
Preferred units in the Operating Partnership 8,800 —
Other consolidated real estate joint ventures 1,594 —

Total minority interests 100,423 79,796
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred Shares of beneficial interest ($0.01 par value; 15,000,000 shares authorized) (Note 10) 67 85
Common Shares of beneficial interest ($0.01 par value; 45,000,000 shares authorized, shares issued of 36,801,533 at

September 30, 2004 and 29,563,867 at December 31, 2003) 368 296
Additional paid-in capital 575,180 494,299
Cumulative distributions in excess of net income (47,862 ) (38,483 )
Value of unearned restricted common share grants (5,381 ) (4,107 )
Treasury shares, at cost (166,600 shares) (1,415 ) (1,415 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (36 ) (294 )

Total shareholders’ equity 520,921 450,381
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,650,713 $ 1,332,076
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Office Properties Trust and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

 
For the three months ended

September 30,
For the nine months ended

September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenues
Rental revenue $ 47,491 $ 40,210 $ 139,723 $ 112,921
Tenant recoveries and other real estate operations revenue 5,606 5,238 16,237 14,923
Construction contract revenues 6,766 19,008 18,136 24,222
Other service operations revenues 959 795 3,806 2,241

Total revenues 60,822 65,251 177,902 154,307
Expenses

Property operating 16,197 13,075 45,883 37,830
Depreciation and other amortization associated with real estate

operations 11,802 9,462 38,045 26,735
Construction contract expenses 6,483 18,035 17,280 23,099
Other service operations expenses 754 1,026 3,194 2,784
General and administrative expenses 2,698 1,937 7,471 5,651

Total operating expenses 37,934 43,535 111,873 96,099
Operating income 22,888 21,716 66,029 58,208
Interest expense (10,839 ) (10,436 ) (31,615 ) (30,608 )



Amortization of deferred financing costs (577 ) (773 ) (1,936 ) (1,957 )
Income from continuing operations before gain on sales of real

estate, equity in gain (loss) of unconsolidated real estate joint
ventures, income taxes and minority interests 11,472 10,507 32,478 25,643

Gain (loss) on sales of real estate, excluding discontinued
operations 24 23 (174 ) 448

Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated real estate joint
ventures — 95 (88 ) (91 )

Income tax expense (145 ) (297 ) (375 ) (238 )
Income from continuing operations before minority interests 11,351 10,328 31,841 25,762
Minority interests in income from continuing operations

Common units in the Operating Partnership (1,595 ) (1,757 ) (4,241 ) (4,329 )
Preferred units in the Operating Partnership (14 ) — (14 ) (1,049 )
Other consolidated entities 8 — — —

Income from continuing operations 9,750 8,571 27,586 20,384
Income from discontinued operations, net of minority interests — 11 — 2,423
Net income 9,750 8,582 27,586 22,807
Preferred share dividends (3,784 ) (3,157 ) (12,675 ) (8,224 )
Repurchase of preferred units in excess of recorded book value — — — (11,224 )
Issuance costs associated with redeemed preferred shares (1,813 ) — (1,813 ) —
Net income available to common shareholders $ 4,153 $ 5,425 $ 13,098 $ 3,359
Basic earnings per common share
Income before discontinued operations $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ 0.41 $ 0.04
Discontinued operations — — — 0.09
Net income $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ 0.41 $ 0.13
Diluted earnings per common share
Income before discontinued operations $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ 0.39 $ 0.03
Discontinued operations — — — 0.09
Net income $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ 0.39 $ 0.12
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Office Properties Trust and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)

(unaudited)
 

For the nine months ended
September 30,

2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $ 27,586 $ 22,807
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Minority interests 4,255 6,383
Depreciation and other amortization 38,045 26,754
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,936 1,957
Amortization of value of acquired operating leases to rental revenue (806 ) (1,465 )
Equity in loss of unconsolidated real estate joint ventures 88 91
Loss (gain) on sales of real estate, including amounts in discontinued operations 174 (3,443 )

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in deferred rent receivable
(5,473 ) (3,629 )

Increase in accounts receivable, restricted cash and prepaid and other assets (1,239 ) (5,677 )
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses, rents received in advance and security deposits 1,890 8,889
Other 1,608 790

Net cash provided by operating activities 68,064 53,457
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of and additions to commercial real estate properties (205,991 ) (183,697 )
Proceeds from sales of properties — 36,904
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate joint ventures (39 ) (735 )
Leasing costs paid (7,877 ) (2,061 )
Advances to certain real estate joint ventures (515 ) (4,134 )
Other 168 (1,680 )

Net cash used in investing activities (214,254 ) (155,403 )
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from mortgage and other loans payable 476,667 206,057
Repayments of mortgage and other loans payable (378,412 ) (169,055 )
Deferred financing costs paid (3,371 ) (1,277 )
Increase in other liabilities associated with financing activities 4,000 4,000
Acquire partner interest in consolidated joint venture (4,928 ) —
Net proceeds from issuance of common shares 121,604 81,388
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred shares — 53,240
Repurchase of preferred units — (35,591 )
Redemption of preferred shares (31,250 ) —
Dividends paid (34,661 ) (24,595 )
Distributions paid (6,224 ) (7,126 )
Other 96 2,286

Net cash provided by financing activities 143,521 109,327
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,669 ) 7,381
Cash and cash equivalents



Beginning of year 9,481 5,991
End of period $ 6,812 $ 13,372

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Office Properties Trust and Subsidiaries

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
 

1.                                      Organization
 
Corporate Office Properties Trust (“COPT”) and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) is a fully-integrated and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”). 

We focus principally on the ownership, management, leasing, acquisition and development of suburban office properties located in select submarkets in the Mid-Atlantic
region of the United States.  COPT is qualified as a REIT as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and is the successor to a corporation organized in 1988.  As of
September 30, 2004, our portfolio included 136 office properties, including two properties owned through joint ventures.

 
We conduct almost all of our operations through our operating partnership, Corporate Office Properties, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), for which we are the

managing general partner.  The Operating Partnership owns real estate both directly and through subsidiary partnerships and limited liability companies (“LLCs”).  A
summary of our Operating Partnership’s forms of ownership and the percentage of those ownership forms owned by COPT as of September 30, 2004 follows:
 

% Owned
by COPT

Common Units 80%
Series E Preferred Units 100%
Series F Preferred Units 100%
Series G Preferred Units 100%
Series H Preferred Units 100%
Series I Preferred Units 0%

 
Please refer to Note 3 below for a description of the Series I Preferred Units.
 

The Operating Partnership also owns 100% of Corporate Office Management, Inc. (“COMI”) (together with its subsidiaries defined as the “Service Companies”). 
COMI’s consolidated subsidiaries are set forth below:
 
Entity Name Type of Service Business
Corporate Realty Management, LLC (“CRM”) Real Estate Management
Corporate Development Services, LLC (“CDS”) Construction and Development
Corporate Cooling and Controls, LLC (“CC&C”) Heating and Air Conditioning
 
COMI owns 100% of these entities.
 
2.             Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited interim Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations for reporting on Form 10-Q. 
Accordingly, certain information and disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for complete Consolidated Financial Statements
are not included herein.  These interim financial statements should be read together with the financial statements and notes thereto included in our 2003 Annual Report on
Form 10-K.  The interim financial statements on the previous pages reflect all adjustments which we believe are necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position
and results of operations for the interim periods presented.  These adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.  The results of operations for such interim periods are not
necessarily indicative of the results for a full year.
 

We use four different accounting methods to report our investments in entities: the consolidation method, the equity method, the cost method and the financing method.
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Consolidation Method

 
We use the consolidation method when we own most of the outstanding voting interests in an entity and can control its operations.  This means the accounts of the entity

are combined with our accounts.  We eliminate balances and transactions between companies when we consolidate these accounts.  Our Consolidated Financial Statements
include the accounts of:

 
•                   COPT;
•                   the Operating Partnership and its subsidiary partnerships and LLCs;
•                   the Service Companies; and
•                   Corporate Office Properties Holdings, Inc. (of which we own 100%).
 
See the section in Note 3 entitled “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” for a description of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46R,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R”).  FIN 46R affects our determination of when to use the consolidation method of accounting.

 
Equity Method

 
We use the equity method of accounting when we own an interest in an entity and can exert significant influence over the entity’s operations but cannot control the

entity’s operations.  Under the equity method, we report:
 

•                   our ownership interest in the entity’s capital as an investment on our Consolidated Balance Sheets; and
•                   our percentage share of the earnings or losses from the entity in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 



See the section in Note 3 entitled “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” for a description of FIN 46R.  FIN 46R affects our determination of when to use the equity
method of accounting.
 
Cost Method

 
We use the cost method of accounting when we own an interest in an entity and cannot exert significant influence over the entity’s operations.  Under the cost method, we

report:
 

•                   the cost of our investment in the entity as an investment on our Consolidated Balance Sheets; and
•                   distributions to us of the entity’s earnings in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 
Financing Method
 

We use the financing method of accounting for certain real estate joint ventures. We use this method when we contribute a parcel of land into a real estate joint venture
and have an option to acquire our partner’s joint venture interest for a pre-determined purchase price.  Details of the financing method of accounting are described below:

 
•                   the costs associated with a land parcel at the time of its contribution into a joint venture are reported as commercial real estate properties on our Consolidated Balance

Sheets;
•                   the cash received from a joint venture in connection with our land contribution is reported as other liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The liability is accreted

towards the pre-determined purchase price over the life of our option to acquire our partner’s interest in the joint venture.  We also report interest expense in connection with
the accretion of the liability;

•                   as construction of a building on the land parcel is completed and operations of the building commence, we report 100% of the revenues and expenses associated with the
property on our Consolidated Statements of Operations; and

•                   construction costs and debt activity for the real estate project relating to periods after the land contribution are not reported by us.
 
At the time we exercise the option to acquire our partner’s joint venture interest, we begin consolidating the accounts of the entity with our accounts.  See the section in Note 3
entitled “Recent Accounting Pronouncements”
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for a description of FIN 46R.  FIN 46R affects our determination of when to use the financing method of accounting.
 
3.             Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements
 

We make estimates and assumptions when preparing financial statements under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).  These estimates and assumptions
affect various matters, including:
 
•                   the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at the dates of the financial statements;
•                   the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements; and
•                   the reported amounts of revenues and expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations during the reporting periods.
 

These estimates involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic factors that are difficult to predict and are often beyond management’s control. 
As a result, actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
 
Accounts Receivable
 

Our accounts receivable are reported net of an allowance for bad debts of $383 at September 30, 2004 and $548 at December 31, 2003.
 
Minority Interests
 

As discussed previously, we consolidate the accounts of our Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries into our financial statements.  However, we do not own 100% of
the Operating Partnership.  We also do not own 100% of three consolidated real estate joint ventures.  The amounts reported for minority interests on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets represent the portion of these consolidated entities’ equity that we do not own.  The amounts reported for minority interests on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations represent the portion of these consolidated entities’ net income not allocated to us.
 

Common units of the Operating Partnership (“common units”) are substantially similar to our common shares of beneficial interest (“common shares”).  Common units
are also exchangeable into our common shares, subject to certain conditions.
 

For a portion of 2003, the Operating Partnership had 1,016,662 Series C Preferred Units outstanding that we did not own.  These units were convertible, subject to certain
conditions, into common units on the basis of 2.381 common units for each Series C Preferred Unit.  These units were repurchased by the Operating Partnership on June 16,
2003 for $36,068 (including $477 for accrued and unpaid distributions), or $14.90 per common share on an as-converted basis.  As a result of the repurchase, we recognized
an $11,224 reduction to net income available to common shareholders associated with the excess of the repurchase price over the sum of the recorded book value of the units
and the accrued and unpaid return to the unitholder.
 

On September 23, 2004, we issued 352,000 Series I Preferred Units in the Operating Partnership to an unrelated party in connection with our acquisition of two office
properties in Northern Virginia.  These units have a liquidation preference of $25.00 per unit, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions of return thereon (as described
below), and may be redeemed for cash by the Operating Partnership at our option any time after September 22, 2019.  The owner of these units is entitled to a priority annual
cumulative return equal to 7.5% of their liquidation preference through September 22, 2019; the annual cumulative preferred return increases for each subsequent five-year
period, subject to certain maximum limits.  These units are convertible into common units on the basis of 0.5 common units for each Series I Preferred Unit; the resulting
common units would then be exchangeable for common shares in accordance with the terms of the Operating Partnership’s agreement of limited partnership. 
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Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)
 

We present both basic and diluted EPS.  We compute basic EPS by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common



shares outstanding during the period.  Our computation of diluted EPS is similar except that:
 
•                   the denominator is increased to include the weighted average number of potential additional common shares that would have been outstanding if securities that are

convertible into our common shares were converted; and
•                   the numerator is adjusted to add back any convertible preferred dividends and any other changes in income or loss that would result from the assumed conversion into

common shares.
 

Our computation of diluted EPS does not assume conversion of securities into our common shares if conversion of those securities would increase our diluted EPS in a
given period.  A summary of the numerator and denominator for purposes of basic and diluted EPS calculations is set forth below (dollars and shares in thousands, except per
share data):
 

For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
Numerator:
Numerator for basic EPS on net income available to common shareholders $ 4,153 $ 5,425 $ 13,098 $ 3,359
Subtract: Income from discontinued operations, net — (11 ) — (2,423 )
Numerator for basic EPS before discontinued operations 4,153 5,414 13,098 936
Add: Series D Preferred Share dividends — 136 21 —
Numerator for diluted EPS before discontinued operations 4,153 5,550 13,119 936
Add: Income from discontinued operations, net — 11 — 2,423
Numerator for diluted EPS on net income available to common

shareholders $ 4,153 $ 5,561 $ 13,119 $ 3,359
Denominator (all weighted averages):
Denominator for basic EPS (common shares) 33,797 28,832 32,124 25,886
Assumed conversion of share options 1,655 1,480 1,680 1,257
Assumed conversion of Series D Preferred Shares — 1,197 179 —
Denominator for diluted EPS 35,452 31,509 33,983 27,143
          
Basic EPS:

Income before discontinued operations $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ 0.41 $ 0.04
Income from discontinued operations — — — 0.09
Net income available to common shareholders $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ 0.41 $ 0.13

Diluted EPS:
Income before discontinued operations $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ 0.39 $ 0.03
Income from discontinued operations — — — 0.09
Net income available to common shareholders $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ 0.39 $ 0.12

 
Our diluted EPS computations do not include the effects of the following securities since the conversions of such securities would increase diluted EPS for the respective
periods:
 

Weighted average shares in denominator
For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
Conversion of weighted average common units 8,690 8,909 8,773 8,954
Restricted common shares 206 161 195 132
Conversion of share options 5 6 5 50
Conversion of weighted average preferred units 15 — 5 1,472
Conversion of weighted average preferred shares — — — 1,197
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Stock-Based Compensation

 
We and the Service Companies recognize expense from share options issued to employees using the intrinsic value method.  As a result, we do not record compensation

expense for share option grants except as set forth below:
 
•                   When the exercise price of a share option grant is less than the market price of our common shares on the option grant date, we recognize compensation expense equal

to the difference between the exercise price and the grant-date market price; this compensation expense is recognized over the service period to which the options
relate.

•                   In 1999, we reduced the exercise price of 360,500 share options from $9.25 to $8.00.  We recognize compensation expense on the share price appreciation and future
vesting associated with the re-priced share options.  As of September 30, 2004, 4,400 of these share options were outstanding.

•                   We recognize compensation expense on share options granted to employees of CRM and CC&C prior to January 1, 2001 equal to the difference between the exercise
price of such share options and the market price of our common shares on January 1, 2001, to the extent such amount relates to service periods remaining after January
1, 2001.

 
We grant common shares subject to forfeiture restrictions to certain employees.  We recognize compensation expense for such grants over the service periods to which the

grants relate.  We compute compensation expense for common share grants based on the value of such grants, as determined by the value of our common shares on the
applicable measurement date, as defined below:

 
•      When forfeiture restrictions on grants only require the recipient to remain employed by us over defined periods of time for such restrictions to lapse, the measurement date

is the date the shares are granted.
•      When forfeiture restrictions on grants require (1) that the recipient remain employed by us over defined periods of time and (2) that the Company meet certain performance

criteria for such restrictions to lapse, the measurement date is the date that the performance criteria are deemed to be met.
 

Expenses from stock-based compensation are reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Operations as follows:
 

For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003



Increase in general and administrative expenses $ 405 $ 269 $ 1,165 $ 753
Increase in losses from service operations 146 98 430 289
 

The following table summarizes our operating results as if we elected to account for our stock-based compensation under the fair value provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation:”
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For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
Net income, as reported $ 9,750 $ 8,582 $ 27,586 $ 22,807
Add: Stock-based compensation expense, net of related tax effects and

minority interests, included in the determination of net income 388 247 1,106 676
Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined under the fair

value based method, net of related tax effects and minority
interests (322 ) (222 ) (917 ) (618 )

Net income, pro forma $ 9,816 $ 8,607 $ 27,775 $ 22,865
Basic earnings per share on net income available to common shareholders,

as reported $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ 0.41 $ 0.13
Basic earnings per share on net income available to common shareholders,

pro forma $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ 0.41 $ 0.13
Diluted earnings per share on net income available to common

shareholders, as reported $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ 0.39 $ 0.12
Diluted earnings per share on net income available to common

shareholders, pro forma $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ 0.39 $ 0.13
 
The stock-based compensation expense under the fair value method, as reported in the above table, was computed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB 51” (“FIN 46”).  In December 2003,

FASB issued FIN No. 46R which replaced FIN 46 and clarified Accounting Research Bulletin 51 (“ARB 51”).  FIN 46R provides guidance in identifying situations in which
an entity is controlled by its owners without such owners owning most of the outstanding voting rights in the entity; it defines the entity in such situations as a variable interest
entity (“VIE”).  Situations identified by FIN 46R include when the equity owners do not have the characteristics of controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.  FIN 46R then provides guidance in determining when
an owner of a VIE should use the consolidation method in accounting for its investment in the VIE.  It also provides for additional disclosure requirements for certain owners
of VIEs.  We adopted FIN 46R immediately for all VIEs created subsequent to January 31, 2003 and effective March 31, 2004 for VIEs created prior to February 1, 2003.  In
connection with our adoption of FIN 46R, we began to use the consolidation method of accounting effective March 31, 2004 for our investments in the following joint
ventures:  MOR Forbes 2 LLC, Gateway 70 LLC and MOR Montpelier 3 LLC, which were previously accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and NBP 220,
LLC, which was previously accounted for using the financing method of accounting (see Note 2).  The effect of consolidating these joint ventures on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2004 is set forth below.
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Operating properties $ 2,176
Projects under construction or development 17,959
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate joint ventures (3,957)
Restricted cash 10
Accounts receivable, net 145
Deferred rent receivable 7
Deferred charges, net 1,026
Prepaid and other assets (3,263)
Mortgage and other loans payable (10,171)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (2,737)
Rents received in advance and security deposits (347)
Other liabilities 4,650
Minority interests-other consolidated real estate entities (5,498)

$ —
 
The consolidation of these joint ventures had no effect on our Consolidated Statements of Operations included herein for periods prior to April 1, 2004.  Additional
information regarding our real estate joint ventures is available in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
4.             Commercial Real Estate Properties
 

Operating properties consisted of the following:
 

September 30,
2004

December 31,
2003

Land $ 260,197 $ 216,703
Buildings and improvements 1,231,518 1,003,214

1,491,715 1,219,917
Less: accumulated depreciation (131,018) (103,070)

$ 1,360,697 $ 1,116,847
 
Projects we had under construction or development consisted of the following:
 

September 30,
2004

December 31,
2003



Land $ 75,925 $ 53,356

Construction in progress 49,371 13,793
$ 125,296 $ 67,149

 
2004 Acquisitions

 
We acquired the following office properties during the nine months ended September 30, 2004:
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Project Name Location
Date of

Acquisition
Number of
Buildings

Total
Rentable

Square Feet Initial Cost
400 Professional Drive Gaithersburg, MD 3/5/2004 1 129,030 $ 23,196
Wildewood and Exploration/ St. Mary’s County, MD 3/24/2004 &

Expedition Office Parks 5/5/2004 9 489,924 57,844
10150 York Road Hunt Valley, MD 4/15/2004 1 178,764 15,372
Pinnacle Towers Tysons Corner, VA 9/23/2004 2 440,102 106,445
Corporate Pointe III Chantilly, VA 9/29/2004 1 114,126 22,903

1,351,946 $ 225,760
 
The table below sets forth the allocation of the acquisition costs of these properties:
 

400
Professional

Drive

Wildewood and
Exploration/
Expedition

10150 York
Road

Pinnacle
Towers

Corporate
Pointe III Total

Land $ 3,673 $ 10,160 $ 2,695 $ 18,564 $ 3,511 $ 38,603
Building and improvements 17,400 43,232 11,714 76,815 15,503 164,664
Intangible assets on real estate acquisitions 2,154 4,502 1,357 11,066 3,889 22,968
Total assets 23,227 57,894 15,766 106,445 22,903 226,235
Deferred revenue associated with acquired

operating leases (31) (50 ) (394) — — (475)
Total acquisition cost $ 23,196 $ 57,844 $ 15,372 $ 106,445 $ 22,903 $ 225,760
 

We also acquired the following during the nine months ended September 30, 2004:
 

•      a parcel of land located in St. Mary’s County, Maryland for $1,905 on March 24, 2004 in connection with our acquisition of the Wildewood and
Exploration/Expedition Office Parks;

•      two adjacent parcels of land located in Chantilly, Virginia for $4,012 on April 14, 2004.  An operating building of ours is located on one of these parcels and a
project we have under construction is located on the other parcel;

•      a 5.3 acre parcel of land located in Herndon, Virginia that is adjacent to one of our office properties for $9,614 on April 29, 2004;
•      a property located in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania that is adjacent to an office park we own for $401 on July 15, 2004;
•      a 14.0 acre parcel of land located in Columbia, Maryland for $6,386 on September 20, 2004; and
•      an 18.8 acre parcel of land located in South Brunswick, New Jersey that is adjacent to an office park we own for $511 on September 29, 2004.

 
2004 Construction/Development
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we fully placed into service a new building located in Annapolis Junction, Maryland and a new building located in
Lanham, Maryland.
 

As of September 30, 2004, we had construction underway on three new buildings in Annapolis Junction, Maryland and two new buildings in Chantilly, Virginia.  We
also had development underway on two new buildings located in Annapolis Junction, Maryland. 

 
2004 Dispositions

 
On April 26, 2004, we sold a land parcel in Columbia, Maryland and a land parcel in Linthicum, Maryland for $9,600.  We issued to the buyer a $5,600 mortgage loan

bearing interest at 5.5% and a maturity date of July 2005; the balance of the acquisition was in the form of cash from the buyer.  Upon completion of the sale, we entered into
an agreement with the buyer to lease the land parcels for an aggregate monthly payment of $10 beginning July 1, 2004 until April 30, 2005, at which time the rent reduces to
$1 per month until 2079.  The buyer in this transaction has an option to contribute the two land parcels into our Operating Partnership between January 1, 2005 and
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February 28, 2005 in exchange for extinguishment of the $5,600 mortgage loan with us and $4,000 in common units in our Operating Partnership; a unit price ranging from
$24.45 to $25.90 will be used to determine the number of units in the Operating Partnership that the buyer would receive if the option were exercised.  If the buyer in this
transaction does not exercise its option to contribute the two land parcels into our Operating Partnership, we have the option to re-acquire the properties anytime after March
15, 2005 for the same consideration described in the previous sentence.  We accounted for this transaction using the financing method of accounting; as a result, the transaction
was not recorded as a sale and the $4,000 in net proceeds received from the buyer is included in other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004.
 
5.             Real Estate Joint Ventures
 

Our investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate joint ventures accounted for using the equity method of accounting included the following:
 

Balance at
 

Total Maximum
September 30,

2004
December 31,

2003
Date

Acquired Ownership
Nature of
Activity

Assets at
9/30/04

Exposure
to Loss (1)

Route 46 Partners, LLC $ 1,094 $ 1,055 3/14/03 20% Operating building (2) $ 23,074 $ 1,664
Gateway 70 LLC — 3,017 4/5/01 See Below Developing land parcel (3) N/A N/A
MOR Forbes 2 LLC — 735 12/24/02 See Below Operating building (4) N/A N/A
MOR Montpelier 3 LLC — 455 2/21/02 See Below Developing land parcel (5) N/A N/A



$ 1,094 $ 5,262 $ 23,074 $ 1,664
 

(1)     Derived from the sum of our investment balance, loan guarantees (based on maximum loan balance) and maximum additional unilateral capital contributions and loans
required from us.  Not reported above are additional amounts that we and our partners are required to fund when needed by these joint ventures; these funding requirements
are proportional to our ownership percentage.

(2)     This joint venture’s property is located in Fairfield, New Jersey.
(3)     This joint venture’s property is located in Columbia, Maryland.
(4)     This joint venture’s property is located in Lanham, Maryland.
(5)     This joint venture’s property is located in Laurel, Maryland.
 

As discussed in Note 3, we adopted FIN 46R effective March 31, 2004 for VIEs created prior to February 1, 2003.  Upon this adoption, we began using the consolidation
method of accounting for the following joint ventures that had previously been accounted for using either the equity or financing methods of accounting:
 

Date
Acquired

Ownership
% at

9/30/04
Nature of
Activity

Total
Assets at
9/30/2004

Collateralized
Assets at
9/30/2004

NBP 220, LLC 1/31/03 100% Operating building (1) $ 34,894 $ 33,162
MOR Forbes 2 LLC 12/24/02 50% Operating building (2) 4,614 4,195
Gateway 70 LLC 4/5/01 80% Developing land parcel (3) 3,782 —
MOR Montpelier 3 LLC 2/21/02 50% Developing land parcel (4) 946 —

$ 44,236 $ 37,357
 

(1)     This joint venture’s property is located in Annapolis Junction, Maryland.  Our ownership was 20% until we acquired the remaining interest on September 10, 2004. 
The building was placed into service in September 2004.

(2)     This joint venture’s property is located in Lanham, Maryland.  The recently constructed building became 100% operational in August 2004.
(3)     This joint venture’s property is located in Columbia, Maryland.
(4)     This joint venture’s property is located in Laurel, Maryland.

 
Our commitments and contingencies pertaining to our real estate joint ventures are disclosed in Note 16.  The following table sets forth a condensed balance sheet for our

one unconsolidated real estate joint venture as of September 30, 2004:
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Commercial real estate property $ 21,595
Other assets 1,479

Total assets $ 23,074
    
Liabilities $ 14,745
Owners’ equity 8,329

Total liabilities and owners’ equity $ 23,074
 
6.             Investments in and Advances to Other Unconsolidated Entities
 

Our investments in and advances to other unconsolidated entities include the following:
 

September 30,
2004

December 31,
2003

Date
Acquired

Ownership
% at

9/30/04

Investment
Accounting

Method
TractManager, Inc. (1) $ 1,621 $ 1,621 Various 2000 5 % Cost
 

(1)     TractManager, Inc. has developed an Internet-based contract imaging and management system for sale to real estate owners and healthcare providers.
 
7.             Intangible Assets on Real Estate Acquisitions
 

Intangible assets on real estate acquisitions consisted of the following:
 

September 30,
2004

 

December 31,
2003

Tenant value $ 63,172 $ 46,613
Lease to market value 9,485 7,819
Lease cost portion of deemed cost avoidance 8,407 5,294
Market concentration premium 1,334 1,333
Subtotal 82,398 61,059
Accumulated amortization (15,315 ) (5,367 )
Intangible assets on real estate acquisitions, net $ 67,083 $ 55,692

 
8.             Deferred Charges
 

Deferred charges consisted of the following:
 

September 30,
2004

 

December 31,
2003

Deferred leasing costs $ 30,529 $ 20,712
Deferred financing costs 16,813 13,263
Goodwill 1,880 1,880
Deferred other 155 155

49,377 36,010
Accumulated amortization (22,970 ) (18,287 )



Deferred charges, net $ 26,407 $ 17,723
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9.             Derivatives
 

The following table sets forth our derivative contracts and their respective fair values:
 

Nature of Derivative

Notional
Amount in
(millions)

One-Month
LIBOR base

Effective
Date

Expiration
Date

Fair Value at
September 30,

2004

Fair Value at
December 31,

2003
Interest rate swap $ 50.0 2.308% 1/2/2003 1/3/2005 $ (45) $ (467)
Interest rate swap 50.0 1.520% 1/7/2003 1/2/2004 — —

Total $ (45) $ (467)
 

We have designated each of these derivatives as cash flow hedges.  These derivatives hedge the risk of changes in interest rates on certain of our one-month LIBOR-
based variable rate borrowings.  At September 30, 2004, our outstanding interest rate swap was considered a highly effective cash flow hedge under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
 

The table below sets forth our accounting application of changes in derivative fair values:
 

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003
Increase (decrease) in fair value applied to AOCL (1)  and minority

interests $ 345 $ (232)
Increase in fair value recognized as gain (2) 77 —

 

(1)                                  AOCL is defined below.
(2)                                  Represents hedge ineffectiveness and is included in interest expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 

Over time, the unrealized losses associated with interest rate swaps that are held in the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of shareholders’ equity
(“AOCL”) and minority interests will be reclassified to earnings as interest payments occur on our LIBOR-based borrowings.
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10.          Shareholders’ Equity

 
Preferred Shares

 
Preferred shares of beneficial interest (“preferred shares”) consisted of the following:

 
September 30,

2004
December 31,

2003
1,725,000 designated as Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of beneficial interest (no shares issued and

outstanding at September 30, 2004 and 1,250,000 shares issued and outstanding with an aggregate liquidation preference
of $31,250 at December 31, 2003) $ — $ 13

544,000 designated as Series D Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares of beneficial interest (no shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2004 and 544,000 shares issued and outstanding with an aggregate liquidation
preference of $13,600 at December 31, 2003) — 5

1,265,000 designated as Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of beneficial interest (1,150,000 shares issued
with an aggregate liquidation preference of $28,750 at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003) 11 11

1,425,000 designated as Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of beneficial interest (1,425,000 shares issued
with an aggregate liquidation preference of $35,625 at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003) 14 14

2,200,000 designated as Series G Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of beneficial interest (2,200,000 shares issued
with an aggregate liquidation preference of $55,000 at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003) 22 22

2,000,000 designated as Series H Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of beneficial interest (2,000,000 shares issued
with an aggregate liquidation preference of $50,000 at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003) 20 20

Total preferred shares $ 67 $ 85
 

On February 11, 2004, the holder of the Series D Preferred Shares converted the shares into common shares on the basis of 2.2 common shares for each Series D
Preferred Share, resulting in the issuance of 1,196,800 common shares.

 
On July 15, 2004, we redeemed the Series B Preferred Shares for a redemption price of $31,250.  At the completion of this transaction, we recognized a $1,813 decrease

to net income available to common shareholders pertaining to the original issuance costs we incurred on the shares.
 
Common Shares
 

On April 23, 2004, we sold 2,750,000 common shares to an underwriter at a net price of $21.243 per share.  We contributed the net proceeds totaling approximately
$58,200 to our Operating Partnership in exchange for 2,750,000 common units.
 

On September 28, 2004, we sold 2,283,600 common shares to underwriters at a net price of $25.10 per share.  We contributed the net proceeds totaling approximately
$57,200 to our Operating Partnership in exchange for 2,283,600 common units.
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, 236,108 common units in our Operating Partnership were converted into common shares on the basis of one common
share for each common unit.
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we issued 99,935 common shares to certain employees.  All of these shares are subject to forfeiture restrictions that
lapse annually throughout their respective terms provided that the employees remain employed by us.  During the same period, forfeiture restrictions lapsed on 113,478
common shares previously issued to employees.  We also issued 4,000 unrestricted common shares to employees during this period.
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We issued 667,223 common shares upon the exercise of share options during the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

 
A summary of the activity in the AOCL component of shareholders’ equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 follows:

 
Beginning balance $ (294 )
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps, net of minority interests 258
Ending balance $ (36 )

 
The table below sets forth our comprehensive income for the periods reported herein:

 
For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003
 

2004
 

2003
Net income $ 9,750 $ 8,582 $ 27,586 $ 22,807
Increase (decrease) in fair value of derivatives 47 144 258 (199)
Total comprehensive income $ 9,797 $ 8,726 $ 27,844 $ 22,608
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11.          Dividends and Distributions
 

The following table summarizes our dividends and distributions when either the payable dates or record dates occurred during the nine months ended September 30,
2004:
 

Record Date Payable Date

Dividend/
Distribution Per

Share/Unit

Total
Dividend/

Distribution
Series B Preferred Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.6250 $ 781
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.6250 $ 781
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.6250 $ 781

          
Series D Preferred Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.2500 $ 136
          
Series E Preferred Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.6406 $ 737
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.6406 $ 737
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.6406 $ 737
Third Quarter 2004 September 30, 2004 October 15, 2004 $ 0.6406 $ 737

          
Series F Preferred Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.6172 $ 880
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.6172 $ 880
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.6172 $ 880
Third Quarter 2004 September 30, 2004 October 15, 2004 $ 0.6172 $ 880

          
Series G Preferred Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.5000 $ 1,100
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.5000 $ 1,100
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.5000 $ 1,100
Third Quarter 2004 September 30, 2004 October 15, 2004 $ 0.5000 $ 1,100

          
Series H Preferred Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.1458 $ 292
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.4688 $ 938
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.4688 $ 938
Third Quarter 2004 September 30, 2004 October 15, 2004 $ 0.4688 $ 938

          
Common Shares:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.2350 $ 6,806
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.2350 $ 7,178
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.2350 $ 7,878
Third Quarter 2004 September 30, 2004 October 15, 2004 $ 0.2550 $ 9,235

          
Common Units:

Fourth Quarter 2003 December 31, 2003 January 15, 2004 $ 0.2350 $ 2,085
First Quarter 2004 March 31, 2004 April 15, 2004 $ 0.2350 $ 2,074
Second Quarter 2004 June 30, 2004 July 15, 2004 $ 0.2350 $ 2,057
Third Quarter 2004 September 30, 2004 October 15, 2004 $ 0.2550 $ 2,201
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12.          Supplemental Information to Statements of Cash Flows
 



For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
      
Consolidation of real estate joint ventures in connection with adoption of FIN 46R:

Operating properties $ 2,176 $ —
Projects under construction or development 17,959 —
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate joint ventures (3,957 ) —
Restricted cash 10 —
Accounts receivable, net 145 —
Deferred rent receivable 7 —
Deferred charges, net 1,026 —
Prepaid and other assets (3,263 ) —
Mortgage and other loans payable (10,171 ) —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (2,737 ) —
Rents received in advance and security deposits (347 ) —
Other liabilities 4,650 —
Minority interests-other consolidated real estate entities (5,498 ) —
Net adjustment $ — $ —

Adjustment to purchase of commercial real estate properties by acquiring joint venture interests:
Operating properties $ (83) $ —
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated real estate joint ventures 83 —
Net adjustment $ — $ —

Debt assumed in connection with acquisitions $ 99,756 $ 16,917
Notes receivable assumed upon sales of real estate $ — $ 3,300
Investment in real estate joint venture obtained with disposition of property $ — $ 2,300
Increase (decrease) in accrued capital improvements and leasing costs $ 14,383 $ (856)
Amortization of discounts and premiums on mortgage loans to commercial real estate properties $ 576 $ 323
Accretion of other liability to commercial real estate properties $ 147 $ 358
Increase (decrease) in fair value of derivatives applied to AOCL and minority interests $ 345 $ (232)
Issuance of preferred units in the Operating Partnership $ 8,800 $ —
Adjustments to minority interests resulting from changes in ownership of Operating Partnership by COPT $ 17,799 $ 6,688
Dividends/distribution payable $ 14,533 $ 11,637
Decrease in minority interests and increase in shareholders’ equity in connection with the conversion of common units into

common shares $ 5,553 $ 2,066
Conversion of preferred shares adjusted to common shares and paid in capital $ 12 $ —
Issuance of restricted shares $ 2,271 $ —
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13.          Information by Business Segment
 

We have seven primary office property segments: Baltimore/Washington Corridor, Northern Virginia, Greater Philadelphia, Northern/Central New Jersey, Greater
Harrisburg, Suburban Maryland and Southern Maryland.

 
The table below reports segment financial information.  The reportable segments include, when applicable, properties classified as discontinued operations because these

properties are included in the measure of profit reviewed by management.  Our segment entitled “Other” includes assets and operations not specifically associated with the
other defined segments.  We measure the performance of our segments based on total revenues less property operating expenses, a measure we define as net operating income
(“NOI”).  We believe that NOI is an important supplemental measure of operating performance for a REIT’s operating real estate because it provides a measure of the core
operations that is unaffected by depreciation, amortization, financing and general and administrative expenses; this measure is particularly useful in our opinion in evaluating
the performance of geographic segments, same-office property groupings and individual properties.
 

Baltimore/
Washington

Corridor
Northern
Virginia

Greater
Philadelphia

Northern/
Central New

Jersey
Greater

Harrisburg
Suburban
Maryland

Southern
Maryland Other Total

Three months ended September 30, 2004:
Revenues $ 26,921 $ 10,121 $ 2,506 $ 4,696 $ 2,271 $ 2,622 $ 1,750 $ 2,210 $ 53,097
Property operating expenses 8,658 3,166 39 1,387 689 927 376 955 16,197
NOI $ 18,263 $ 6,955 $ 2,467 $ 3,309 $ 1,582 $ 1,695 $ 1,374 $ 1,255 $ 36,900
Commercial real estate property expenditures $ 43,159 $ 121,415 $ 593 $ 901 $ 65 $ 88 $ 26 $ 1,100 $ 167,347
                    
Three months ended September 30, 2003:
Revenues $ 24,670 $ 9,010 $ 2,507 $ 3,685 $ 2,372 $ 1,481 $ — $ 1,725 $ 45,450
Property operating expenses 7,242 2,657 36 1,300 663 536 — 628 13,062
NOI $ 17,428 $ 6,353 $ 2,471 $ 2,385 $ 1,709 $ 945 $ — $ 1,097 $ 32,388
Commercial real estate property expenditures $ 3,741 $ 61,663 $ 201 $ 122 $ 74 $ 101 $ — $ 381 $ 66,283
                    
Nine months ended September 30, 2004:
Revenues $ 77,220 $ 34,296 $ 7,519 $ 14,036 $ 6,682 $ 6,535 $ 3,536 $ 6,136 $ 155,960

Property operating expenses 24,394 9,552 118 4,114 2,190 2,310 768 2,437 45,883
NOI $ 52,826 $ 24,744 $ 7,401 $ 9,922 $ 4,492 $ 4,225 $ 2,768 $ 3,699 $ 110,077
Commercial real estate property expenditures $ 87,249 $ 139,957 $ 944 $ 1,650 $ 329 $ 27,475 $ 55,324 $ 17,017 $ 329,945
Segment assets at September 30, 2004 $ 753,607 $ 415,076 $ 101,425 $ 84,676 $ 67,796 $ 70,675 $ 59,205 $ 98,253 $ 1,650,713
                    
Nine months ended September 30, 2003:
Revenues $ 71,261 $ 20,116 $ 7,519 $ 11,864 $ 7,523 $ 5,259 $ — $ 5,212 $ 128,754
Property operating expenses 21,599 6,191 106 4,193 2,093 2,150 — 1,857 38,189
NOI $ 49,662 $ 13,925 $ 7,413 $ 7,671 $ 5,430 $ 3,109 $ — $ 3,355 $ 90,565
Commercial real estate property expenditures $ 44,860 $ 122,755 $ 510 $ 351 $ 241 $ 506 $ — $ 1,131 $ 170,354
Segment assets at September 30, 2003 $ 642,534 $ 262,678 $ 102,631 $ 84,844 $ 69,724 $ 41,784 $ — $ 96,276 $ 1,300,471
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The following tables reconcile our segment revenues and property operating expenses to total revenues and operating expenses as reported on our Consolidated

Statements of Operations:
 

For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
Segment revenues $ 53,097 $ 45,450 $ 155,960 $ 128,754
Construction contract revenues 6,766 19,008 18,136 24,222
Other service operations revenues 959 795 3,806 2,241
Less: revenues from discontinued real estate operations — (2 ) — (910 )
Total revenues $ 60,822 $ 65,251 $ 177,902 $ 154,307
          
Segment property operating expenses $ 16,197 $ 13,062 $ 45,883 $ 38,189
Less: property expenses from discontinued real estate operations — 13 — (359 )
Total property operating expenses $ 16,197 $ 13,075 $ 45,883 $ 37,830
 

The following table reconciles our NOI for reportable segments to income from continuing operations as reported on our Consolidated Statements of Operations:
 

For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004
 

2003 2004 2003
NOI for reportable segments $ 36,900 $ 32,388 $ 110,077 $ 90,565
Construction contract revenues 6,766 19,008 18,136 24,222
Other service operations revenues 959 795 3,806 2,241
Gain (loss) on sales of real estate, excluding discontinued operations 24 23 (174 ) 448
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated real estate joint ventures — 95 (88 ) (91 )
Income tax expense (145 ) (297 ) (375 ) (238 )
Less:

Depreciation and other amortization associated with real estate
operations (11,802 ) (9,462 ) (38,045 ) (26,735 )

Construction contract expenses (6,483 ) (18,035 ) (17,280 ) (23,099 )
Other service operations expenses (754 ) (1,026 ) (3,194 ) (2,784 )
General and administrative expenses (2,698 ) (1,937 ) (7,471 ) (5,651 )
Interest expense (10,839 ) (10,436 ) (31,615 ) (30,608 )
Amortization of deferred financing costs (577 ) (773 ) (1,936 ) (1,957 )
Minority interests (1,601 ) (1,757 ) (4,255 ) (5,378 )
NOI from discontinued operations — (15 ) — (551 )

Income from continuing operations $ 9,750 $ 8,571 $ 27,586 $ 20,384
 
 We did not allocate gain (loss) on sales of real estate, interest expense, amortization of deferred financing costs and depreciation and other amortization to segments since
they are not included in the measure of segment profit reviewed by management.  We also did not allocate construction contract revenues, other service operations revenues,
construction contract expenses, other service operations expenses, equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated real estate joint ventures, general and administrative expense and
minority interests because these items represent general corporate items not attributable to segments.
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14.          Income Taxes
 

COMI’s provision for income tax consists of the following:
 

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003
Current

Federal $ — $ —
State — —

— —
Deferred

Federal 308 196
State 67 42

375 238
Total $ 375 $ 238

 
Items contributing to temporary differences that lead to deferred taxes include net operating losses that are not deductible until future periods, depreciation and

amortization, certain accrued compensation and compensation made in the form of contributions to a deferred nonqualified compensation plan.
 

COMI’s combined Federal and state effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 was approximately 40%.
 
15.          Discontinued Operations
 

Income from discontinued operations includes revenues and expenses associated with an operating property located in Oxon Hill, Maryland that was sold on March 31,
2003.  The table below sets forth the components of income from discontinued operations:

 
For the three
months ended

September 30, 2003

For the nine
months ended

September 30, 2003
Revenue from real estate operations $ 2 $ 910
Expenses from real estate operations:

Property operating expenses (13 ) 359
Depreciation and amortization — 19
Interest expense — 100



Expenses from real estate operations (13 ) 478
Earnings from real estate operations before gain on sale of real estate and minority interests 15 432
Gain on sale of real estate — 2,995
Income from discontinued operations before minority interests 15 3,427
Minority interests in discontinued operations (4 ) (1,004 )
Income from discontinued operations, net of minority interests $ 11 $ 2,423
 
16.          Commitments and Contingencies
 

In the normal course of business, we are involved in legal actions arising from our ownership and operation of properties.  Management does not anticipate that any
liabilities that may result will have a materially adverse effect on our financial position, operations or liquidity. We are subject to various Federal, state and local
environmental regulations related to our property ownership and operation.  We have performed environmental assessments of our properties, the results of which have not
revealed any
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environmental liability that we believe would have a materially adverse effect on our financial position, operations or liquidity.
 
Acquisitions
 

As of September 30, 2004, we were under contract to acquire two office properties in St. Mary’s County, Maryland for $8,014.  We expect to acquire these properties in
November 2004.
 
Joint Ventures
 

We may be required to make additional unilateral capital contributions to Route 46 Partners, LLC of up to $320 to fund our partners’ preferred return.  We may also be
required to fund leasing commissions associated with leasing space in this joint venture’s building to the extent such commissions exceed a defined amount; we do not expect
that any such funding, if required, will be material to us.  In addition, we agreed to unilaterally loan the joint venture an additional $250 in the event funds are needed by the
entity.
 

We may need to make our share of additional investments in our real estate joint ventures (generally based on our percentage ownership) in the event that additional
funds are needed.  In the event that the other members of these joint ventures do not pay their share of investments when additional funds are needed, we may then need to
make even larger investments in these joint ventures.
 

In the three real estate joint ventures owned as of September 30, 2004, we would be obligated to acquire the other members’ interest in each of the joint ventures (20% in
the case of one and 50% each in the case of two) if defined events were to occur.  The amount we would be required to pay for those membership interests is computed based
on the amount that the owners of those interests would receive under the joint venture agreements in the event that office properties owned by the respective joint ventures
were sold for a capitalized fair value (as defined in the agreements) on a defined date.  We estimate the aggregate amount we would need to pay for our partners’ membership
interests in these joint ventures to be $1,300; however, since the determination of this amount is dependent on the operations of the office properties and none of the properties
are both completed and occupied, this estimate is preliminary and could be materially different from the actual obligation.
 
Operating Leases
 

We are obligated as lessee under five operating leases for office space.  Future minimum rental payments due under the terms of these leases as of September 30, 2004
were as follows:
 

2004 $ 158
2005 616
2006 355
2007 71
2008 62
Thereafter 11

$ 1,273
 
Land Leases

 
At September 30, 2004, we were obligated as lessee under leases for two parcels of land, both of which are being held for future development (see section above entitled

“2004 Dispositions”).  These leases provide for monthly rent through April 2079.  Future minimum annual rental payments due under the terms of these leases as of
September 30, 2004 were as follows:
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2004 $ 30
2005 48
2006 12
2007 12
2008 12
Thereafter 844

$ 958
 
Other Operating Leases

 
We are obligated under various leases for vehicles and office equipment.  Future minimum annual rental payments due under the terms of these leases as of September

30, 2004 were as follows:
 

2004 $ 85
2005 315
2006 252
2007 150



2008 74

$ 876
 
17.          Pro Forma Financial Information
 

We accounted for our 2003 and 2004 acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting.  We included the results of operations for the acquisitions in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations from their respective purchase dates through September 30, 2004.
 

We prepared our pro forma condensed consolidated financial information presented below as if all of our 2003 and 2004 acquisitions and dispositions of operating
properties had occurred on January 1, 2003.  The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results that actually would have occurred if these
acquisitions and dispositions had occurred on January 1, 2003, nor does it purport to indicate our results of operations for future periods.
 

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003
      
Pro forma total revenues $ 191,605 $ 183,582
Pro forma net income $ 28,389 $ 23,669
Pro forma net income available to common shareholders $ 13,901 $ 4,221
Pro forma earnings per common share on net income available to common shareholders

Basic $ 0.43 $ 0.15
Diluted $ 0.41 $ 0.14
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Item 2.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Overview
 

Corporate Office Properties Trust (“COPT”) and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) is a real estate investment trust, or REIT, that focuses on the ownership,
management, leasing, acquisition and development of suburban office properties located in select submarkets in the Mid-Atlantic region of the United States.  We conduct our
real estate ownership activity through our operating partnership, Corporate Office Properties, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), of which we are the sole general partner.  The
Operating Partnership owns real estate both directly and through subsidiary partnerships and limited liability companies.  The Operating Partnership also owns an entity
through which we provide real estate-related services that include (1) property management, (2) construction and development management and (3) heating and air
conditioning services and controls.  The number of operating properties in our portfolio totaled 136 as of September 30, 2004 and 119 as of December 31, 2003.  Our growth
in number of operating properties over that timeframe was achieved primarily through our acquisition of properties.

 
Most of our revenues come from rents and property operating expense reimbursements earned from tenants leasing space in our properties.  Most of our expenses take

the form of (1) property operating costs, such as real estate taxes, utilities and repairs and maintenance, (2) financing costs, such as interest and loan costs and (3) depreciation
and amortization of our operating properties and tenant lease costs.

 
Cash provided from operations is our primary source of cash for funding dividends and distributions, debt service on our loans and other working capital requirements. 

We historically have financed our long-term capital needs, including property acquisition and development activities, through a combination of the following:
 
•                   borrowings under our primary revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”);
•                   borrowings from new loans;
•                   issuances of common shares of beneficial interest (“common shares”), preferred shares of beneficial interest (“preferred shares”) and common units and/or preferred units

in our Operating Partnership;
•                   contributions from outside investors into real estate joint ventures;
•                   proceeds from sales of real estate; and
•                   any available residual cash flow from operations after application to the items described in the previous paragraph.
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we:
 

•                   experienced increased revenues, operating expenses and earnings from real estate operations due primarily to the addition of properties through acquisition and construction
activities;

•                   experienced increased revenue from Same-Office Properties of $3.8 million, or 3%, and increased operating expenses from those properties of $3.0 million, or 8%;
•                   finished the period with occupancy for our portfolio of properties at 93.0%;
•                   renewed 76.6% of the square footage under leases expiring during the period;
•                   acquired 14 office properties and seven land parcels for $248.6 million; 57.5% of these acquisition costs represented properties located in Northern Virginia and nine of

these office properties represented our initial entry into the Southern Maryland region;
•                   sold 5,033,600 common shares to underwriters for net proceeds of approximately $115.4 million; and
•                   obtained a new $300.0 million revolving credit facility which replaced our previous facility.

 
In this section, we discuss our financial condition and results of operations as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004.  This section includes

discussions on, among other things:
 
•                   our results of operations and why various components of our Consolidated Statements of Operations changed for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004

compared to the same periods in 2003;
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•                   how we raised cash for acquisitions and other capital expenditures during the nine months ended September 30, 2004;
•                   our cash flows during the nine months ended September 30, 2004;
•                   how we expect to generate cash for short and long-term capital needs;



•                   our off-balance sheet arrangements in place that are reasonably likely to affect our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity;
•                   our commitments and contingencies; and
•                   the computation of our funds from operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.
 

You should refer to our Consolidated Financial Statements and Selected Financial Data table as you read this section.
 
This section contains “forward-looking” statements, as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that are based on our current expectations,

estimates and projections about future events and financial trends affecting the financial condition and operations of our business.  Forward-looking statements can be
identified by the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “estimate” or other comparable terminology.  Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to
risks and uncertainties, many of which we cannot predict with accuracy and some of which we might not even anticipate.  Although we believe that the expectations, estimates
and projections reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions at the time made, we can give no assurance that these expectations,
estimates and projections will be achieved.  Future events and actual results may differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements.  Important factors
that may affect these expectations, estimates and projections include, but are not limited to:

 
•                   our ability to borrow on favorable terms;
•                   general economic and business conditions, which will, among other things, affect office property demand and rents, tenant creditworthiness, interest rates and

financing availability;
•                   adverse changes in the real estate markets, including, among other things, increased competition with other companies;
•                   risks of real estate acquisition and development activities;
•                   risks of investing through joint venture structures, including risks that our joint venture partners may not fulfill their financial obligations as investors or may take

actions that are inconsistent with our objectives;
•                   governmental actions and initiatives; and
•                   environmental requirements.
 

We undertake no obligation to update or supplement forward-looking statements.
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Corporate Office Properties Trust and Subsidiaries

Operating Data Variance Analysis
 

(Dollars for this table are in thousands, except per share data)
 

For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,
2004 2003 Variance % Change 2004 2003 Variance % Change

Revenues
Rental revenue $ 47,491 $ 40,210 $ 7,281 18% $ 139,723 $ 112,921 $ 26,802 24%
Tenant recoveries and other real estate

operations revenue 5,606 5,238 368 7% 16,237 14,923 1,314 9%
Construction contract revenues 6,766 19,008 (12,242) (64)% 18,136 24,222 (6,086) (25)%
Other service operations revenues 959 795 164 21% 3,806 2,241 1,565 70%

Total revenues 60,822 65,251 (4,429) (7)% 177,902 154,307 23,595 15%
Expenses

Property operating 16,197 13,075 3,122 24% 45,883 37,830 8,053 21%
Depreciation and other amortization associated

with real estate operations 11,802 9,462 2,340 25% 38,045 26,735 11,310 42%
Construction contract expenses 6,483 18,035 (11,552) (64)% 17,280 23,099 (5,819) (25)%
Other service operations expenses 754 1,026 (272) (27)% 3,194 2,784 410 15%
General and administrative expense 2,698 1,937 761 39% 7,471 5,651 1,820 32%

Total operating expenses 37,934 43,535 (5,601) (13)% 111,873 96,099 15,774 16%
Operating income 22,888 21,716 1,172 5% 66,029 58,208 7,821 13%
Interest expense (10,839) (10,436) (403) 4% (31,615) (30,608) (1,007) 3%
Amortization of deferred financing costs (577) (773) 196 (25)% (1,936) (1,957) 21 (1)%
Gain (loss) on sales of real estate, excluding

discontinued operations 24 23 1 4% (174) 448 (622) N/A
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated real

estate joint ventures — 95 (95) (100)% (88) (91) 3 (3)%
Income tax expense (145) (297) 152 (51)% (375) (238) (137) 58%
Income from continuing operations before

minority interests 11,351 10,328 1,023 10% 31,841 25,762 6,079 24%
Minority interests (1,601) (1,757) 156 (9)% (4,255) (5,378) 1,123 (21)%
Income from discontinued operations, net — 11 (11) (100)% — 2,423 (2,423) (100)%
Net income 9,750 8,582 1,168 14% 27,586 22,807 4,779 21%
Preferred share dividends (3,784) (3,157) (627) 20% (12,675) (8,224) (4,451) 54%
Repurchase of preferred units in excess of

recorded book value — — — N/A — (11,224) 11,224 (100)%
Issuance costs associated with redeemed preferred

shares (1,813) — (1,813) N/A (1,813) — (1,813) N/A
Net income available to common shareholders $ 4,153 $ 5,425 $ (1,272) (23)% $ 13,098 $ 3,359 $ 9,739 290%
Basic earnings per common share

Income before discontinued operations $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ (0.07) (37)% $ 0.41 $ 0.04 $ 0.37 925%
Net income $ 0.12 $ 0.19 $ (0.07) (37)% $ 0.41 $ 0.13 $ 0.28 215%

Diluted earnings per common share
Income before discontinued operations $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ (0.06) (33)% $ 0.39 $ 0.03 $ 0.36 1200%
Net income $ 0.12 $ 0.18 $ (0.06) (33)% $ 0.39 $ 0.12 $ 0.27 225%
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Results of Operations

 



While reviewing this section, you should refer to the “Operating Data Variance Analysis” table set forth on the preceding page, as it reflects the computation of the
variances described in this section.

 
Occupancy and leasing
 

Over the last three years, the United States economy suffered from an economic slowdown that we believe had an adverse effect on the office real estate leasing market. 
Occupancy rates declined in most parts of the country, placing downward pressure on rental rates and increasing the competitive environment for attracting tenants.  We
believe that the national trend was felt in each of our geographic regions, contributing towards decreased occupancy in our portfolio of properties.  We also experienced
downward pressure on rental rates and increased competition for tenants in our properties.  During the latter portion of 2003 and in the first three quarters of 2004, we believe
that there was an increase in leasing activity in several of our regions.  We expect the increased leasing activity trend in these regions to continue into 2005, which we expect
would improve occupancy levels in those regions and in our properties.
 

The table below sets forth certain occupancy and leasing information:
 

September 30,
2004

December 31,
2003

Occupancy for portfolio of properties 93.0 % 91.2 %
Average contractual annual rental rate per square foot(1) $ 20.28 $ 20.06
Weighted average lease term (in years) 4.9 4.9
 

(1) Includes estimated expense reimbursements.
 
We were able to renew 76.6% of the square footage under leases expiring in the nine months ended September 30, 2004.  The occupancy and leasing information

reflected in the table above includes the effects of properties acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2004; these properties were 90.6% occupied and had a
weighted average lease term of 6.0 years as of September 30, 2004.

 
As we discussed above, we observed signs of improvement in leasing trends in many of our submarkets.  However, since rental conditions in many of our regions

continue to be affected by the economic downturn, we expect that the operating performance of our properties may be adversely affected as we attempt to lease vacant space
and renew leases that are scheduled to expire.  Our exposure over the remainder of 2004 and 2005 is reduced somewhat by the fact that only 12.6% of our annualized rental
revenues from leases in place as of September 30, 2004 were from leases scheduled to expire by the end of 2005.

 
Annualized rental revenue is a measure that we use to evaluate the source of our rental revenue as of a point in time.  It is computed by multiplying by 12 the sum of

monthly contractual base rents and estimated monthly expense reimbursements under active leases in our portfolio of properties as of a point in time.  Portfolio annualized
rental revenue is annualized rental revenue for our entire portfolio of properties as of a point in time, including both consolidated properties and properties owned through
unconsolidated real estate joint ventures.  We consider annualized rental revenue to be a useful measure for analyzing revenue sources because, since it is point-in-time based,
it does not contain increases and decreases in revenue associated with periods in which lease terms were not in effect; historical revenue under generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) does contain such fluctuations.  We find the measure particularly useful for leasing, tenant, segment and industry analysis.

 
Most of the leases with our largest tenant, the United States Government, provide for consecutive one-year terms or provide for early termination rights; all of the leasing

statistics set forth above assume that the United States Government will remain in the space that they lease through the end of the respective arrangements, without ending
consecutive one-year leases prematurely or exercising early termination
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rights.  We reported the statistics in this manner since we manage our leasing activities using these same assumptions and believe these assumptions to be probable.

 
Geographic concentration of property operations
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we acquired nine properties in St. Mary’s County, Maryland, which is located in Southern Maryland; these
acquisitions marked our entry into that submarket of the Greater Washington, D.C. area.  We also acquired three properties in Northern Virginia, one property in Suburban
Maryland and one property in North Baltimore County.  The table below sets forth the regional allocation of our portfolio annualized rental revenue:

 
% of Portfolio Annualized

Rental Revenue as of

Region
September 30,

2004
December 31,

2003
Baltimore/Washington Corridor 49.9 % 53.6 %
Northern Virginia 22.5 % 19.8 %
Northern/Central New Jersey 8.0 % 9.5 %
Greater Philadelphia 4.7 % 5.7 %
Suburban Maryland 4.1 % 2.9 %
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 3.9 % 5.1 %
Southern Maryland 3.1 % N/A
Other 3.8 % 3.4 %

100.0 % 100.0 %
 

The changes in the percentages between the two points in time are attributable primarily to the property acquisitions.  We expect that we will focus most of our acquisition and
development activities in the Northern Virginia and the Baltimore/Washington Corridor regions in the remainder of 2004 and 2005.  In addition, we are contractually
obligated to acquire two additional office properties in the Southern Maryland region.

 
Concentration of leases with certain tenants
 

The following schedule lists our 20 largest tenants based on percentage of portfolio annualized rental revenue:
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Percentage of Portfolio
Annualized Rental Revenue
for 20 Largest Tenants as of



Tenant
 

September 30,
2004

December 31,
2003

      
United States of America 13.4 % 14.8 %
Computer Sciences Corporation (1) 5.4 % 6.3 %
Booz Allen Hamilton, Inc. 5.0 % 2.6 %
AT&T Corporation  (1) 4.4 % 5.2 %
Titan Corporation (1) 4.0 % 1.3 %
General Dynamics Corporation 3.6 % 3.3 %
Unisys (2) 3.6 % 4.4 %
Northrop Grumman Corporation 2.7 % 2.5 %
The Boeing Company (1) 1.8 % 2.1 %
Wachovia Bank 1.8 % N/A
Ciena Corporation 1.8 % 2.2 %
VeriSign, Inc. 1.8 % 5.1 %
The Aerospace Corporation 1.6 % 1.9 %
Magellan Health Services, Inc. 1.3 % 1.8 %
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 1.3 % N/A
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (1) 1.2 % 1.5 %
Johns Hopkins University (1) 1.1 % 1.3 %
Merck & Co., Inc. (2) 1.1 % 1.3 %
Carefirst, Inc. and Subsidiaries (1) 1.0 % 1.2 %
USinternetworking, Inc. 0.9 % 1.1 %
Comcast Corporation N/A 1.0 %
Omniplex World Services N/A 0.9 %
Subtotal of 20 largest tenants 58.8 % 61.8 %
All remaining tenants 41.2 % 38.2 %
Total 100.0 % 100.0 %
 

(1) Includes affiliated organizations and agencies.
(2) Unisys subleases space to Merck and Co., Inc.; revenue from this subleased space is classified as Merck & Co., Inc. revenue.
 

As noted above, most of the leases with the United States Government provide for a series of one-year terms or provide for early termination rights.  The government may
terminate its leases if, among other reasons, the United States Congress fails to provide funding for such leases.

 
Industry concentration of tenants
 

The percentage of our portfolio annualized rental revenue derived from the United States defense industry increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2004
due primarily to our property acquisitions as well as current tenant expansion to other buildings within our portfolio.  The table below sets forth the percentage of our
annualized rental revenue derived from that industry:
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% of Annualized

Rental Revenue as of
September 30,

2004
December 31,

2003
Total Portfolio 44.3 % 39.9 %
Baltimore/Washington Corridor 61.2 % 57.4 %
Northern Virginia 47.9 % 45.5 %
Southern Maryland 87.0 % N/A
 
Revenues from real estate operations and property operating expenses
 

We typically view our changes in revenues from real estate operations and property operating expenses as comprising three main components:
 

•                   Changes attributable to the operations of properties owned and 100% operational throughout the two periods being compared.  We define these as changes from “Same-
Office Properties.”  For example, when comparing the third quarters of 2003 and 2004, Same-Office Properties would be properties owned and 100% operational from July
1, 2003 through September 30, 2004.

•                   Changes attributable to operating properties acquired during or in between the two periods being compared and newly-constructed properties that were placed into service
and not 100% operational throughout the two periods being compared.  We define these as changes from “Property Additions.”

•                   Changes attributable to properties sold during or in between the two periods being compared that are not reported as discontinued operations.  We define these as changes
from “Sold Properties.”
 
The table below sets forth the components of our changes in revenues from real estate operations and property operating expenses (dollars in thousands):
 

Changes between the three month periods ended September 30, 2004 and 2003
Property
Additions Same-Office Properties

Sold
Properties Other Total

Dollar
Change (1)

Dollar
Change

Percentage
Change

Dollar
Change

Dollar
Change

Dollar
Change

Revenues from real estate operations Rental
revenue $ 5,159 $ 2,122 6% $ — $ — $ 7,281
Tenant recoveries and other real estate

operations revenue 250 204 4% (18) (68) 368
Total $ 5,409 $ 2,326 5% $ (18) $ (68) $ 7,649

              
Property operating expenses $ 1,574 $ 1,612 13% $ — $ (64) $ 3,122
              
Straight-line rental revenue adjustments

included in rental revenue $ 258 $ 1,076 N/A $ — $ — $ 1,334



Amortization of origination value of leases on
acquired properties included in rental
revenue $ (29) $ (93) N/A $ — $ — $ (122)

              
Number of operating properties included in

component category 24 111 N/A — N/A 135
 

(1) Includes 19 acquired properties and five newly-constructed properties.
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Changes between the nine month periods ended September 30, 2004 and 2003

Property
Additions Same-Office Properties

Sold
Properties Other Total

Dollar Dollar Percentage Dollar Dollar Dollar
Change (1) Change Change Change (2) Change Change

Revenues from real estate operations Rental
revenue $ 24,260 $ 3,164 3% $ (622) $ — $ 26,802
Tenant recoveries and other real estate

operations revenue 989 638 5% (92) (221) 1,314
Total $ 25,249 $ 3,802 3% $ (714) $ (221) $ 28,116

              
Property operating expenses $ 5,465 $ 2,955 8% $ (320) $ (47) $ 8,053
              
Straight-line rental revenue adjustments

included in rental revenue $ 3,470 $ (1,576) N/A $ (12) $ — $ 1,882
Amortization of origination value of leases on

acquired properties included in rental
revenue $ (917) $ 259 N/A $ — $ — $ (658)

              
Number of operating properties included in

component category 26 109 N/A 1 N/A 136
 

(1) Includes 21 acquired properties and five newly-constructed properties.
(2) Includes sold operating properties that are not reported as discontinued operations.
 

As the tables above indicate, our total increase in revenues from real estate operations and property operating expenses was attributable primarily to the Property
Additions.  The increase in rental revenue of the Property Additions includes $5.6 million for the nine-month comparison periods that is attributable to net revenue from the
early termination of leases; most of this increase is attributable to one lease termination transaction.  To explain further the concept of net revenue from the early termination
of leases, when tenants terminate their lease obligations prior to the end of the agreed lease terms, they typically pay fees to break these obligations.  We recognize such fees
as revenue and write off against such revenue any (1) deferred rents receivable and (2) deferred revenue and deferred assets that are amortizable into rental revenue associated
with the leases; the resulting net amount is the net revenue from the early termination of the leases.

 
The increase in rental revenue from the Same-Office Properties for the three-month comparison periods was attributable primarily to an increase in occupancy between

the two periods; $718,000 of this increase was derived from one property.
 

The increase in rental revenue from the Same-Office Properties for the nine-month comparison periods was attributable primarily to an increase in occupancy and rental
rates between the two periods, including $2.0 million attributable to one property; the total increase was offset somewhat by a $931,000 decrease in net revenue from the early
termination of leases.
 

Rental revenue reported herein includes net revenue from the early termination of leases of $1.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004 and $8.7 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2004.  While early lease terminations are not unusual and can be unpredictable, we believe that the revenue we recognized from
such terminations in 2004 is higher than we can expect to recognize in future years in the foreseeable future.
 

The increase in the Same-Office Properties’ property operating expenses for the three-month comparison periods included the following:
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•                   increase of $658,000, or 67.2%, in property labor costs due mostly to an increase in billable rates of repairs and maintenance employees, although $217,000 of this increase

is attributable to a building that was not staffed with employees in the prior period.  We expect that the increasing trend in property labor costs may diminish in the future
due to a potential downward adjustment in the billable rates of repairs and maintenance salaries;

•                   increase of $254,000, or 15.4%, in cleaning expenses; much of this increase was due to cleaning costs required in the current period at properties that had increased
occupancy over the prior period; and

•                   increase of $236,000, or 8.8%, in utilities due primarily to (1) rate increases as a result of energy de-regulation in Maryland during the current period and (2) increased
occupancy over the prior period at certain properties.

 
The increase in the Same-Office Properties’ property operating expenses for the nine-month comparison periods included the following:

 
•                   increase of $1.4 million, or 44.5%, in property labor costs due primarily to the reasons discussed above for the three-month comparison periods and higher than normal

hours during the earlier portion of the year for projects undertaken at certain properties;
•                   increase of $762,000, or 16.4%, in cleaning expenses due primarily to the reason discussed above for the three-month comparison period;
•                   increase of $548,000, or 7.6%, in real estate taxes due primarily to an increase in the assessed value of many of our properties.  This increasing trend was present across all

of our regions.  While we continue to monitor the reasonableness of the increase in the assessed value of our properties in determining whether appeals are necessary, we
expect that this increasing trend will continue.  We also expect that the rates used by state and local municipalities to assess real estate taxes on our properties may increase
in the future in response to budgetary shortfalls in those municipalities;

•                   increase of $415,000, or 26.4%, in heating and air conditioning repairs and maintenance attributable primarily to one building; a tenant in this building is reimbursing us for
these costs through its tenant recovery billings;



•                   increase of $488,000, or 54.0%, in general administrative costs allocable to property operations due primarily to an increase in asset management and legal staffing over the
prior period;

•                   decrease of $746,000, or 38.3%, in snow removal due to higher snowfall in the prior period; and
•                   decrease of $383,000, or 79.6%, in expense associated with doubtful or uncollectible receivables.  Most of this decrease was attributable to a large expense associated with a

particular tenant in the prior period coupled with much lower expense in the current period.
 

Construction contract and other service operations revenues and expenses
 

The table below sets forth the computation of changes in income derived from our service operations:
 

Changes between the three months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2004

Changes between the nine months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2004

 

Construction
contract

dollar
change

 

Other
service

operations
dollar
change

Total dollar
change

Construction
contract

dollar
change

Other
service

operations
dollar
change

 

Total dollar
change

Service operations
Revenues $ (12,242) $ 164 $ (12,078) $ (6,086) $ 1,565 $ (4,521)
Expenses (11,552 ) (272) (11,824) (5,819) 410 (5,409 )

Income from service operations $ (690) $ 436 $ (254) $ (267) $ 1,155 $ 888
 

The decrease in income from construction contracts is due primarily to additional profit recognized on two construction management contracts in the three months ended
September 30, 2003.
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The increase in income from other service operations for the nine-month comparison periods can be attributed primarily to (1) an $866,000 increase in income from the
heating and air conditioning services and controls division and (2) a $519,000 increase in income from the property management division.  The improvement in income from
the heating and air conditioning services and controls division is attributable primarily to increased time and materials billing activity from its service contract and controls
product lines.  Much of this activity is attributable to several large contracts; once these contracts are complete, additional contracts will need to be obtained to continue to
maintain the activity level.  As a result, there is a high level of uncertainty over whether the improvement in income from the division is a trend that will continue.  The
increase in income from the property management division is attributable mostly to (1) an increase in billable rates of repairs and maintenance employees and (2) higher hours
billed per employee.  We expect that this trend may diminish in the future due to a potential downward adjustment in the billable rates of repairs and maintenance employees.
 
Depreciation and amortization
 

The increase in our depreciation and other amortization expense for the three and nine-month comparison periods is attributable primarily to the Property Additions and
includes $3.2 million in depreciation and amortization recorded in connection with one lease termination transaction.
 
General and administrative expenses
 

General and administrative expenses increased $761,000, or 39.3%, for the three-month comparison periods.  This increase includes the following:
 

•                   an increase of $348,000 in compensation expenses due primarily to additional employee positions, increased expenses associated with restricted common shares and
increased salaries for existing employees;

•                   an increase of $122,000 in consulting expense which includes, among other things, the Company’s Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 preparation; and
•                   an increase of $102,000 in costs expensed for abandoned acquisition and development opportunities.
 

General and administrative expenses increased $1.8 million, or 32.2%, for the nine-month comparison periods.  This increase includes the following:
 

•                   an increase of $866,000 in compensation expenses due primarily to additional employee positions, increased expenses associated with restricted common shares and
increased salaries for existing employees;

•                   an increase of $230,000 in consulting expense which includes, among other things, the Company’s Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 preparation;
•                   an increase of $121,000 in costs expensed for abandoned acquisition and development opportunities; and
•                   an increase of $91,000 in directors’ and officers’ insurance costs due to higher rates.

 
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs
 

Our interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs increased $207,000, or 1.8%, during the three months ended September 30, 2004.  Our interest expense
and amortization of deferred financing costs increased $986,000, or 3.0% during the nine months ended September 30, 2004.  These increases are attributable primarily to
increases in our average outstanding debt balance of 13.4% for the three-month comparison periods and 13.7% for the nine-month comparison periods resulting from our
2003 and 2004 acquisition and development activities, offset by repayments of debt using proceeds from offerings that took place during 2003 and 2004.  Our weighted
average interest rates decreased from 5.7% to 5.6% for the three-month comparison periods and from 5.9% to 5.7% for the nine-month comparison periods.  For additional
information regarding our mortgage and other loans payable, please refer to the sections entitled “Analysis of indebtedness” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk.”
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Gain (loss) on sales of real estate, excluding sales classified as discontinued operations
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we recognized a $245,000 decrease to a gain recognized on a prior year disposition of an investment in a real estate
joint venture as a result of a change in the settlement negotiated between our joint venture partner and us.  During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we recognized
a $376,000 gain on the sale of two land parcels.  Gain on sales of real estate for both periods also includes amortized gain from a building sale that occurred in 2002.  Since
our real estate sales activity is driven by transactions unrelated to our core operations, our gain on sales of real estate is subject to material fluctuation from period to period.

 
Minority interests



 
Interests in our Operating Partnership are in the form of preferred and common units.  The line entitled “Minority interests in income from continuing operations” on our

Consolidated Statements of Operations includes primarily income before minority interests and discontinued operations allocated to preferred and common units not owned
by us; for the amount of this line attributable to preferred units versus common units, you should refer to our Consolidated Statements of Operations.  Income is allocated to
minority interest preferred unitholders equal to the priority return from the Operating Partnership to which they are entitled.  Income is allocated to minority interest common
unitholders based on the income earned by the Operating Partnership after allocation to preferred unitholders multiplied by the percentage of the common units in the
Operating Partnership owned by those common unitholders.

 
As of September 30, 2004, we owned approximately 95% of the outstanding preferred units and approximately 80% of the outstanding common units.  Changes in the

percentage of the Operating Partnership owned by minority interests from the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 to the three and nine months ended September
30, 2004 included the following:
 
•                   because we receive preferred units and common units in the Operating Partnership each time we issue preferred shares and common shares, additional units were issued to

us as we issued new shares during the last nine months of 2003 and the first nine months of 2004;
•                   certain minority interest holders of common units exchanged their common units for our common shares;
•                   our repurchased of the Series C Preferred Units from third parties in June 2003 (as discussed in the section below entitled “Adjustments to net income to arrive at net

income available to common shareholders”);
•                   the conversion of the Series D Preferred Shares (as discussed in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements);
•                   our redemption of the Series B Preferred Shares in July 2004 (as discussed in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements); and
•                   our issuance of the Series I Preferred Units to a third party in September 2004 (as discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
 
Our income allocated to minority interest holders of preferred units decreased due to our repurchase of the Series C Preferred Units, offset slightly by the issuance of the
Series I Preferred Units.  Our changes in income allocated to minority interest holders of common units included the following:

 
•                   decrease attributable to our increasing ownership of common units and preferred units; and
•                   increase due to an increase in the Operating Partnership’s income from continuing operations before minority interests.

 
Income from discontinued operations
 

Income from discontinued operations is composed entirely of one operating office property that we sold in March 2003.  See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for a summary of income from discontinued operations.

 
36

 
Adjustments to net income to arrive at net income available to common shareholders
 

We completed the sale of two series of preferred shares in 2003.  On February 11, 2004, the holder of our Series D Preferred Shares converted the shares into 1,196,800
common shares.  Preferred share dividends increased due to the dividend requirements of the two new series of preferred shares issued in 2003.  This increase was offset
somewhat by the decrease caused by the absence of the dividend requirements of the Series D Preferred Shares for all of the three months and most of the nine months ended
September 30, 2004.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we recognized an $11.2 million decrease to net income available to common shareholders, representing the excess of

the repurchase price of the Series C Preferred Units in the Operating Partnership over the sum of the recorded book value of the units and the accrued and unpaid return to the
unitholder; prior to this repurchase, these units were convertible, subject to certain restrictions, into 2,420,672 common units in the Operating Partnership.  These units were
repurchased by the Operating Partnership for $36.1 million (including $477,000 for accrued and unpaid distributions), or $14.90 per common share on an as-converted basis.

 
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004, we recognized a $1.8 million decrease to net income available to common shareholders pertaining to the

original issuance costs incurred on the Series B Preferred Shares.  We redeemed these shares in July 2004 for a redemption price of $31.3 million.
 

Diluted earnings per common share
 
Diluted earnings per common share on net income available to common shareholders for the three-month comparison period decreased due primarily to the issuance costs

associated with the redeemed Series B Preferred Shares, discussed in the immediately preceding section, as well as the increased common shares outstanding due to common
share issuances in 2004 (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

 
Diluted earnings per common share on net income available to common shareholders for the nine-month comparison period increased due primarily to the $11.2 million

decrease to net income available to common shareholders in 2003 representing the excess of the repurchase price of the Series C Preferred Units over the sum of the recorded
book value of the units and the accrued and unpaid return to the unitholder.  This increase was offset somewhat by the issuance costs associated with the redeemed Series B
Preferred Shares and the increased common shares outstanding due to common share issuances in 2003 and 2004.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Cash and cash equivalents
 

Our cash and cash equivalents balance totaled $6.8 million as of September 30, 2004, a 28% decrease over the balance at December 31, 2003.  The balances that we carry
as of a point in time can vary significantly due in part to the inherent variability of the cash needs of our development activities.  We maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents to meet our operating cash requirements and short term investing and financing cash requirements.  When we determine that the amount of cash and cash
equivalents on hand is more than we need to meet such requirements, we may pay down our Revolving Credit Facility or forgo borrowing under construction loan credit
facilities to fund development activities.
 
Operating activities
 

We generated most of our cash from the operations of our properties.  Most of the amount by which our revenues from real estate operations exceeded property operating
expenses was cash flow; we applied most of this cash flow towards interest expense, scheduled principal amortization on mortgage loans, dividends to our shareholders,
distributions to minority interest holders of preferred and common units in
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the Operating Partnership, capital improvements and leasing costs for our operating properties and general and administrative expenses.
 

Our cash flow from operations determined in accordance with GAAP increased $14.6 million, or 27.3%, when comparing the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and
2003; this increase is attributable primarily to the additional cash flow from operations generated by our newly-acquired and newly-constructed properties.  We expect to
continue to use cash flow provided by operations to meet our short-term capital needs, including all property operating expenses, general and administrative expenses, debt
service, dividend and distributions and capital improvements and leasing costs.  We do not anticipate borrowing to meet these requirements.
 
Investing and financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2004
 

We acquired 14 office properties totaling 1,351,946 square feet and seven parcels of land for $248.6 million.  These acquisitions were financed using the following:
 
•                   $139.2 million from borrowings of new and assumed mortgage loans;
•                   $91.0 million in borrowings from our Revolving Credit Facility;
•                   $8.8 million from preferred units in the Operating Partnership issued;
•                   $4.0 million from common share sale proceeds; and
•      cash reserves for the balance.

 
We had construction activities underway on five office properties totaling 696,464 square feet that were 50.9% pre-leased.  Costs incurred on these properties through

September 30, 2004 totaled approximately $50.4 million, of which $34.2 million was incurred in 2004.  We have loan facilities in place totaling $78.0 million to finance the
construction of four of these properties; borrowings under these facilities totaled $23.3 million at September 30, 2004.  The remaining costs were funded using primarily
borrowings from our Revolving Credit Facility and cash reserves.

 
The table below sets forth the major components of our real estate property additions, excluding additions related to the consolidation of real estate joint ventures in

connection with our adoption of FIN 46R, which is described below (in thousands):
 

For the nine
months ended

September 30, 2004
Acquisitions $ 228,504
Construction and development 64,490
Tenant improvements on operating properties 10,612 (1)
Capital improvements on operating properties 6,228

$ 309,834
 

(1) Tenant improvement costs incurred on newly-constructed properties are classified in this table as construction and development.
 
Our investments in unconsolidated real estate joint ventures decreased $4.2 million due to our consolidation as of March 31, 2004 of Gateway 70 LLC, MOR Forbes 2

LLC and MOR Montpelier 3 LLC in conjunction with our adoption of FIN 46R for those joint venture investments.  For additional information regarding our investments in
unconsolidated real estate joint ventures, refer to the section below entitled “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” and Note 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
On March 10, 2004, we obtained a new Revolving Credit Facility with a number of lenders led by Wachovia Bank, National Association.  The terms of the new

Revolving Credit Facility are discussed in the section below entitled “Analysis of Indebtedness.”  We used proceeds from our initial borrowing under this
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facility to (1) repay the $27.8 million balance that was outstanding under our since-terminated Revolving Credit Facility with Bankers Trust Company and (2) refinance $95.2
million in other mortgage loans.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we borrowed $271.4 million under mortgage and other loans payable, excluding our Revolving Credit Facility; the

proceeds from these borrowings were used as follows:
 

•                   $139.2 million to finance acquisitions;
•                   $64.0 million to pay down the revolver;
•                   $43.5 million to refinance existing debt;
•                   $13.7 million to finance construction activities; and
•                   the balance to fund cash reserves.
 

On April 23, 2004, we sold 2,750,000 common shares to an underwriter at a net price of $21.243 per share.  We contributed the net proceeds totaling $58.2 million to our
Operating Partnership in exchange for 2,750,000 common units.  We initially used the proceeds to pay down our Revolving Credit Facility.  We re-borrowed most of the
amount by which the Revolving Credit Facility was paid down to (1) prepay a $26.0 million mortgage in June 2004 and (2) redeem for $31.3 million our Series B Preferred
Shares in July 2004.

 
On September 28, 2004, we sold 2,283,600 common shares to underwriters at a net price of $25.10 per share.  We contributed the net proceeds totaling $57.2 million to

our Operating Partnership in exchange for 2,283,600 common units.  The proceeds were used to pay down our Revolving Credit Facility.
 
Analysis of cash flow associated with investing and financing activities
 

Our net cash flow used in investing activities increased $58.9 million when comparing the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.  This increase was due
primarily to the following:

 
•                   $36.9 million decrease in proceeds from sales of properties.  We generally do not acquire properties with the intent of selling them.  We generally sell properties when we

believe that most of the earnings growth potential in such properties has been realized or determine that a property no longer fits within our strategic plans due to its type
and/or location.  Since our real estate sales activity is driven by transactions unrelated to our core operations, our proceeds from sales of properties are subject to material
fluctuation from period to period and, therefore, we do not believe that the change described above is necessarily indicative of a trend; and

•                   $22.3 million increase in purchases of and additions to commercial real estate; this increase is due primarily to an increase in property acquisitions.  Our ability to locate
and complete acquisitions is dependent on numerous variables and, as a result, is inherently subject to significant fluctuation from period to period; while we expect to
continue to acquire properties in the future, we are unable to predict whether the increasing acquisition volume is a trend that will continue.

 
Our cash flow provided by financing activities increased $34.2 million when comparing the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.  This increase included the



following:
 
•                   $270.6 million increase in proceeds from mortgage and other loans payable; this increase is due primarily to the following:

•                   borrowings under our new Revolving Credit Facility that were used to fund our loan refinancings and repayment of the since-terminated Revolving Credit Facility with
Bankers Trust Company and property acquisitions; and

•                   borrowing under a $115.0 million with Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America (“TIAA”) that was used primarily to pay down the Revolving Credit
Facility and refinance other existing debt.

 
39

 
•                   $209.4 million increase in repayments of mortgage and other loans payable; this increase is attributable primarily to the additional repayments of existing loans using

borrowings under our new Revolving Credit Facility and the new loan with TIAA described above;
•                   $35.6 million in cash used to repurchase the Series C Preferred Units in the Operating Partnership in 2003; this occurred as a result of a specific transaction that will not

recur on an ongoing basis;
•                   $31.3 million in cash used to redeem the Series B Preferred Shares in 2004.  We may use cash in the future to redeem outstanding series of preferred shares once they

become redeemable; as such redemptions occur, we would expect to finance the cost of such a redemption using proceeds from the sale of common or preferred shares. 
None of our preferred shares are redeemable before July 2006;

•                   $13.0 million decrease in common and preferred shares issuances completed during the two periods being compared; and
•                   $9.2 million increase in dividends and distributions paid due to (1) the increase of common and preferred shares outstanding following share issuances in the last nine

months of 2003 and the first nine months of 2004, net of the decrease in preferred shares outstanding relating to the redemption of the Series B Preferred Shares and the
conversion of the Series D Preferred Shares, and (2) an increased dividend rate on common shares and common units.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
On April 26, 2004, we sold for $9.6 million a land parcel in Columbia, Maryland and a land parcel in Linthicum, Maryland.  We issued to the buyer a $5.6 million

mortgage loan bearing interest at 5.5% and a maturity date of July 2005; the balance of the acquisition was in the form of cash from the buyer.  Upon completion of the sale,
we entered into an agreement with the buyer to lease the land parcels for an aggregate monthly payment of $10,000 from July 1, 2004 until April 30, 2005, at which time the
rent reduces to $1,000 per month until 2079.  The buyer in this transaction has an option to contribute the two land parcels into our Operating Partnership between January 1,
2005 and February 28, 2005 in exchange for extinguishment of the $5.6 million mortgage loan with us and $4.0 million in common units in our Operating Partnership; a unit
price ranging from $24.45 to $25.90 per unit will be used to determine the number of units in the Operating Partnership that the buyer would receive if the option were
exercised.  If the buyer in this transaction does not exercise its option to contribute the two land parcels into our Operating Partnership, we have the option to re-acquire the
properties anytime after March 15, 2005 for the same consideration described in the previous sentence.  We accounted for this transaction using the financing method of
accounting; as a result, the transaction was not recorded as a sale and the $4.0 million in net proceeds received from the buyer is included in other liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004.

 
On September 10, 2004, we acquired for $4.9 million the interest of our joint venture partner in NBP 220, LLC, a construction joint venture managed by us (defined in

the 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K as “Internally Managed JVs”).
 
We had no other significant changes in our off-balance sheet arrangements from those described in the section entitled “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” in our 2003

Annual Report on Form 10-K.  However, we did change our accounting for our real estate joint ventures, as described below.
 
All of our real estate joint venture investments as of September 30, 2004 can be classified into one of the following three categories:
 

•                   Externally-managed construction joint ventures (the “Externally-Managed JVs”).  These joint ventures construct buildings to either be sold to third-parties or purchased by
us;

•                   Internally-Managed JVs; and
•                   Operating joint ventures to which we contribute an office property to partially dispose of our interest (the “Disposition JV”).
 
These categories are described in further detail in our 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K.  In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of
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Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB 51” (“FIN 46”).  In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46R, which replaced FIN 46 and clarified ARB 51.  Effective
March 31, 2004, we adopted FIN 46R for our joint ventures created prior to February 1, 2003.  As a result of this adoption, we began using the consolidation method of
accounting for all of our Externally-Managed JVs and Internally-Managed JVs.  See Note 3 and Note 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding FIN 46, FIN 46R and the effect on our accounting for these joint ventures.
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Analysis of indebtedness
 

Mortgage and other loans payable at September 30, 2004 consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
 

Revolving Credit Facility, LIBOR+1.25 to 1.55%, maturing March 2007 (1) $ 121,600
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, 5.47%, maturing September 2011 115,000
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, 6.89%, maturing November 2008 75,853
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, 5.20%, maturing October 2013 (2) 63,066
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, 7.72%, maturing October 2006 55,281
Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance Company, 5.36%, maturing December 2010 51,242
Wachovia Bank term loan, LIBOR+1.20 to 1.50%, maturing September 2007 (1) 34,500
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, 6.91%, maturing June 2007 32,810
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, 7.0%, maturing March 2009 32,739
Allstate Life Insurance Company, 5.6%, maturing January 2013 28,457
State Farm Life Insurance Company, 6.51%, maturing August 2012 26,762



Transamerica Life Insurance and Annuity Company, 7.18%, maturing August 2009 25,243

State Farm Life Insurance Company, 7.9%, maturing April 2008
24,697

Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance Company, 7.3%, maturing May 2008 20,074
Allstate Life Insurance Company, 6.93%, maturing July 2008 19,889
Allstate Life Insurance Company, 5.6%, maturing January 2013 18,971
LaSalle Bank National Association, 6.25%, maturing December 2012 (3) 17,367
Transamerica Life Insurance and Annuity Company, 8.3%, maturing October 2005 16,672
Allstate Life Insurance Company, 7.14%, maturing September 2007 15,227
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company, 7.0%, maturing February 2010 15,212
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.75%, maturing January 2005 (4) 14,540
Jolly Knolls, LLC, 3%, maturing December 2007 (5) 13,421
IDS Life Insurance Company, 7.9%, maturing March 2008 12,918
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.75%, maturing September 2005 (4)(6) 11,792
Phillips Realty Capital, 7.94%, maturing September 2025 (7) 11,039
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR +1.75%, maturing April 2005 (8) 10,666
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.85%, maturing April 2005 (8)(9) 8,353
Branch Banking and Trust, LIBOR + 1.75%, maturing November 2004 (1)(10) 8,303
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, 8.35%, maturing October 2006 7,504
Aegon USA Realty Advisors, Inc., 8.29%, maturing May 2007 5,297
The Howard Research & Development Corp., 0%, maturing March 2005 (11) 4,987
Citibank Federal Savings Bank, 6.93%, maturing July 2008 4,736
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.55%, maturing September 2007 (1)(12) 4,519
Orix Capital, 7.7%, maturing November 2007(13) 4,356
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.65%, maturing September 2007 (1)(14) 3,771
Branch Banking and Trust, LIBOR + 2.2%, maturing May 2005 (15) 3,592
Riggs Bank National Association, 8.625%, maturing June 2009 (16) 3,414
Jolly Knolls, LLC, 4%, maturing April 2005 (17) 2,154
Seller loan, 5.95%, maturing May 2007 1,308
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.55%, maturing September 2007 (1)(18) —
Citizens Bank, LIBOR + 1.85%, repaid in August 2004 —
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, LIBOR + 1.85%, repaid in August 2004 —
Mutual of New York Life Insurance Company, 7.79%, repaid in June 2004 —
Provident Bank, LIBOR + 1.85%, repaid in August 2004 —

$ 947,332
 

(1)   May be extended for a one-year period, subject to certain conditions.
(2)          Note with a current face value of $64,379, discounted using a rate of 5.51%.
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(3)   Note with a current face value of $16,663, valued using a rate of 5.67%.
(4)          May be extended for two six-month periods, subject to certain conditions.
(5)          Note with a current face value of $14,199, discounted using a rate of 6.0%.  The lender is an affiliate of Constellation Real Estate, Inc.
(6)          Construction loan with a commitment of $20,000.
(7)          Note with a current face value of $9,857, valued using a rate of 5.44%.
(8)          May be extended for one six-month period subject to certain conditions.
(9)          Construction loan with a commitment of $10,125.
(10)     Construction loan with a commitment of $14,100. This loan was repaid in October 2004.
(11)     Note with a current face value of $5,055, valued using a rate of 3.93%.
(12)     Construction loan with a commitment of $16,588.
(13)     Note with a current face value of $4,063, valued using a rate of 5.10%.
(14)     Construction loan with a commitment of $19,285.
(15)     Construction loan with a commitment of $4,707.
(16)     Note with a current face value of $3,107, valued using a rate of 4.71%
(17)     Note with a current face value of $2,412, discounted using a rate of 5.92%.  The lender is an affiliate of Constellation Real Estate, Inc.
(18)     Construction loan with a commitment of $27,127.

 
We have guaranteed the repayment of $274.9 million of the mortgage and other loans set forth above.
 
The timing and nature (fixed-rate versus variable-rate) of the scheduled maturities on our debt are discussed in the section entitled “Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures about Market Risk.”
 
We often use our Revolving Credit Facility initially to finance much of our investing and financing activities.  We then pay down our Revolving Credit Facility using

proceeds from long-term borrowings collateralized by our properties as attractive financing conditions arise and equity issuances as attractive equity market conditions arise.
 
Our Revolving Credit Facility from the beginning of the periods reported herein until March 10, 2004 was with Bankers Trust Company.  However, on March 10, 2004,

we obtained a new Revolving Credit Facility with a group of lenders headed by Wachovia Bank, National Association.  The new Revolving Credit Facility with Wachovia
Bank, National Association has a maximum principal of $300.0 million, a three-year term (with an additional one-year extension available) and a variable interest rate based
on the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 1.25% to 1.55% (as determined by our leverage levels at different points in time).  The facility has a fee of 0.125% to 0.25% on the amount of
the credit facility that is unused.  Amounts available under this Revolving Credit Facility are generally computed based on 60% of the unencumbered asset pool value.  As of
November 2, 2004, the maximum amount available under our Revolving Credit Facility was $252.7 million, of which $106.1 million was unused.

 
We had a secured revolving credit facility with Wachovia Bank, National Association for a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million that was repaid using proceeds

from the new Revolving Credit Facility.
 
Certain of our mortgage loans require that we comply with a number of restrictive financial covenants, including leverage ratio, adjusted consolidated net worth,

minimum property interest coverage, minimum property hedged interest coverage, minimum consolidated interest coverage, minimum fixed charge coverage, minimum debt
service coverage, maximum consolidated unhedged floating rate debt and maximum consolidated total indebtedness.  As of September 30, 2004, we were in compliance with
these financial covenants.

 
43



 
Contractual obligations
 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2004 (in thousands):
 

 

For the Periods Ended December 31,
2004

 

2005 to 2006 2007 to 2008 Thereafter Total
 

            
Contractual obligations (1)(8)
Mortgage loans payable (2) $ 14,345 $ 166,259 $ 394,868 $ 371,792 $ 947,264
Acquisitions of properties (3) 8,014 — — — 8,014
New construction and development contracts (4) 44,780 — — — 44,780
Third-party construction and development contracts (5) 65,297 — — — 65,297
Capital expenditures for operating properties (6) 3,692 — — — 3,692
Operating leases (7) 273 1,598 381 855 3,107
Capital lease obligations (7) 4 18 — — 22
Other purchase obligations (7) 231 1,233 924 2,234 4,622
Total contractual cash obligations $ 136,636 $ 169,108 $ 396,173 $ 374,881 $ 1,076,798

 

(1)          The contractual obligations set forth in this table generally exclude individual contracts that had a value of less than $20 thousand.  Also excluded are contracts
associated with the operations of our properties that may be terminated with notice of one month or less, which is the arrangement that applies to most of our
property operations contracts.

(2)          Represents principal maturities only and therefore excludes net premiums and discounts of $68 thousand.  Our loan maturities in 2004 include $8.3 million in
November that we repaid in October 2004 using borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility; the balance of the maturities represent scheduled principal
amortization payments that we expect to pay using cash flow from operations.

(3)          Represents contractual obligations at September 30, 2004 to purchase two buildings in St. Mary’s County, Maryland. We expect to acquire these properties in
November 2004 using an assumed mortgage loan and borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility for the balance.

(4)          Represents contractual obligations pertaining to new construction and development activities.  We expect to finance these costs primarily using proceeds from our
Revolving Credit Facility and construction loans.  Because of the long-term nature of certain construction and development contracts, most of these costs will be
incurred beyond 2004.

(5)          Represents contractual obligations pertaining to projects for which we are acting as construction manager on behalf of unrelated parties who are our clients.  We
expect to be reimbursed in full for these costs by our clients.  Because of the long-term nature of certain construction and development contracts, some of these costs
may be incurred beyond 2004.

(6)          Represents contractual obligations pertaining to capital expenditures for our operating properties.  We expect to finance all of these costs using cash flow from
operations.  Because of the long-term nature of certain construction contracts, most of these costs will be incurred beyond 2004.

(7)          We expect to pay these items using cash flow from operations.
(8)          Not included in this section are amounts contingently payable by us to acquire the membership interests of certain real estate joint venture partners.  See Note 16 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of such amounts.
 
Other future cash requirements for investing and financing activities
 

As previously discussed, we had construction activities underway on five office properties totaling 696,464 square feet that were 50.9% pre-leased as of September 30,
2004.  We estimate remaining costs to be incurred will total approximately $74.1 million upon completion of these properties.  We have $54.7 million remaining to be
borrowed under construction loan facilities totaling $78.0 million for four of these properties; we expect to fund the remaining costs for these activities using primarily
borrowings from our Revolving Credit Facility.

 
As of September 30, 2004, we had development activities underway on two new office properties estimated to total 286,000 square feet.  We estimate that costs for these

properties will total approximately $50.0 million.  As of September 30, 2004, costs incurred on these properties totaled $8.3 million and the balance is expected to be incurred
from September 2004 to 2006.  We expect to fund approximately $35.0 million of these costs using borrowings from new construction loans and the balance using borrowings
from our Revolving Credit Facility.
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During the remainder of 2004 and beyond, we expect to complete other acquisitions of properties and commence construction and development activities in addition to

the ones previously described.  We expect to finance these activities as we have in the past, using mostly a combination of additional equity issuances of common and/or
preferred shares, borrowings from new loans and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility.
 
Funds From Operations
 

Funds from operations (“FFO”) is defined as net income computed using GAAP, excluding gains (or losses) from sales of real estate, plus real estate-related depreciation
and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.  Gains from sales of newly-developed properties less accumulated depreciation, if
any, required under GAAP are included in FFO on the basis that development services are the primary revenue generating activity; we believe that inclusion of these
development gains is in accordance with the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) definition of FFO, although others may interpret the
definition differently.  Additionally, the repurchase of the Series C Preferred Units in the Operating Partnership for an amount in excess of their recorded book value was a
transaction not contemplated in the NAREIT definition of FFO; we believe that the exclusion of such an amount from FFO is appropriate.

 
Accounting for real estate assets using historical cost accounting under GAAP assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time.  NAREIT

stated in its April 2002 White Paper on Funds from Operations that “since real estate asset values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry
investors have considered presentations of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves.”  As a result, the
concept of FFO was created by NAREIT for the REIT industry to “address this problem.”  We agree with the concept of FFO and believe that FFO is useful to management
and investors as a supplemental measure of operating performance because, by excluding gains and losses related to sales of previously depreciated operating real estate
properties and excluding real estate-related depreciation and amortization, FFO can help one compare our operating performance between periods.  In addition, since most
equity REITs provide FFO information to the investment community, we believe that FFO is useful to investors as a supplemental measure for comparing our results to those
of other equity REITs.  We believe that net income is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to FFO.

 
Since FFO excludes certain items includable in net income, reliance on the measure has limitations; management compensates for these limitations by using the measure

simply as a supplemental measure that is weighed in the balance with other GAAP and non GAAP measures.  FFO is not necessarily an indication of our cash flow available
to fund cash needs.  Additionally, it should not be used as an alternative to net income when evaluating our financial performance or to cash flow from operating, investing
and financing activities when evaluating our liquidity or ability to make cash distributions or pay debt service.  The FFO we present may not be comparable to the FFO
presented by other REITs since they may interpret the current NAREIT definition of FFO differently or they may not use the current NAREIT definition of FFO.



 
Basic funds from operations (“Basic FFO”) is FFO adjusted to (1) subtract preferred share dividends and (2) add back GAAP net income allocated to common units in

the Operating Partnership not owned by us.  With these adjustments, Basic FFO represents FFO available to common shareholders and common unitholders.  Common units
in the Operating Partnership are substantially similar to our common shares; common units in the Operating Partnership are also exchangeable into common shares, subject to
certain conditions.  We believe that Basic FFO is useful to investors due to the close correlation of common units to common shares.  We believe that net income is the most
directly comparable GAAP measure to Basic FFO.  Basic FFO has essentially the same limitations as FFO; management compensates for these limitations in essentially the
same manner as described above for FFO

 
Diluted funds from operations per share (“Diluted FFO per share”) is (1) Basic FFO adjusted to add back any convertible preferred share dividends and any other

changes in Basic FFO that would result from the assumed conversion of securities that are convertible or exchangeable into common shares divided by (2) the sum of the (a)
weighted average common shares outstanding during a period, (b) weighted average
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common units outstanding during a period and (c) weighted average number of potential additional common shares that would have been outstanding during a period if other
securities that are convertible or exchangeable into common shares were converted or exchanged.  However, the computation of Diluted FFO per share does not assume
conversion of securities that are convertible into common shares if the conversion of those securities would increase Diluted FFO per share in a given period.  We believe that
Diluted FFO per share is useful to investors because it provides investors with a further context for evaluating our FFO results in the same manner that investors use earnings
per share (“EPS”) in evaluating net income available to common shareholders.  In addition, since most equity REITs provide Diluted FFO per share information to the
investment community, we believe Diluted FFO per share is a useful supplemental measure for comparing us to other equity REITs.  We believe that diluted EPS is the most
directly comparable GAAP measure to Diluted FFO per share.  Diluted FFO per share has most of the same limitations as Diluted FFO (described below); management
compensates for these limitations in essentially the same manner as described below for Diluted FFO.

 
Diluted funds from operations (“Diluted FFO”) is Basic FFO adjusted to add back any convertible preferred share dividends and any other changes in Basic FFO that

would result from the assumed conversion of securities that are convertible or exchangeable into common shares.  However, the computation of Diluted FFO does not assume
conversion of securities that are convertible into common shares if the conversion of those securities would increase Diluted FFO per share in a given period.  We believe that
Diluted FFO is useful to investors because it is the numerator used to compute Diluted FFO per share.  In addition, since most equity REITs provide Diluted FFO information
to the investment community, we believe Diluted FFO is a useful supplemental measure for comparing us to other equity REITs.  We believe that the numerator for diluted
earnings per share is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Diluted FFO.  Since Diluted FFO excludes certain items includable in the numerator to diluted EPS,
reliance on the measure has limitations; management compensates for these limitations by using the measure simply as a supplemental measure that is weighed in the balance
with other GAAP and non-GAAP measures.  Diluted FFO is not necessarily an indication of our cash flow available to fund cash needs.  Additionally, it should not be used as
an alternative to net income when evaluating our financial performance or to cash flow from operating, investing and financing activities when evaluating our liquidity or
ability to make cash distributions or pay debt service.  The Diluted FFO that we present may not be comparable to the Diluted FFO presented by other REITs.

 
Our Basic FFO, Diluted FFO per share and Diluted FFO for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 and reconciliations of (1) net income to FFO,

(2) the numerator for diluted earnings per share to diluted FFO and (3) the denominator for diluted earnings per share to the denominator for diluted FFO per share are set
forth in the following table (dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data):
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For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
          
Net income $ 9,750 $ 8,582 $ 27,586 $ 22,807
Add: Real estate-related depreciation and amortization 11,700 9,337 37,746 26,389
Add: Depreciation and amortization on unconsolidated real estate joint

ventures — 86 106 183
Less: Depreciation and amortization allocable to minority interests in other

other consolidated entities (56 ) — (56 ) —
Less: Gain on sales of real estate, excluding development portion (1) (24 ) (23 ) (71 ) (2,874 )
Less: Issuance costs associated with redeemed preferred shares (1,813 ) — (1,813 ) —
FFO 19,557 17,982 63,498 46,505
Add: Minority interests-common units in the Operating Partnership 1,595 1,763 4,241 5,334
Less: Preferred share dividends (3,784 ) (3,157 ) (12,675 ) (8,224 )
Basic FFO 17,368 16,588 55,064 43,615
Add: Preferred unit distributions — — — 1,049
Add: Convertible preferred share dividends — 136 21 408
Expense associated with dilutive options — 1 — 10
Diluted FFO $ 17,368 $ 16,725 $ 55,085 $ 45,082
          
Weighted average common shares 33,797 28,832 32,124 25,886
Conversion of weighted average common units 8,690 8,909 8,773 8,954
Weighted average common shares/units - basic FFO 42,487 37,741 40,897 34,840
Assumed conversion of weighted average convertible preferred units — — — 1,472
Assumed conversion of share options 1,655 1,480 1,680 1,302
Assumed conversion of weighted average convertible preferred shares — 1,197 179 1,197
Weighted average common shares/units - diluted FFO 44,142 40,418 42,756 38,811
          
Diluted FFO per share $ 0.39 $ 0.41 $ 1.29 $ 1.16
          
Numerator for diluted earnings per share $ 4,153 $ 5,561 $ 13,119 $ 3,359
Add: Minority interests-common units in the Operating Partnership 1,595 1,763 4,241 5,334
Add: Real estate-related depreciation and amortization 11,700 9,337 37,746 26,389
Add: Depreciation and amortization on unconsolidated real estate joint

ventures
— 86 106 183

Less: Depreciation allocable to minority interests in other consolidated
entities (56 ) — (56 ) —

Add: Preferred share dividends — — — 408
Add: Preferred unit distributions — — — 1,049



Add: Expense associated with dilutive options — 1 — 10
Less: Gain on sales of real estate, excluding development portion (1) (24 ) (23 ) (71 ) (2,874 )
Add: Repurchase of Series C Preferred units in excess of recorded book

value — — — 11,224
Diluted FFO $ 17,368 $ 16,725 $ 55,085 $ 45,082
          
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 35,452 31,509 33,983 27,143
Weighted average common units 8,690 8,909 8,773 8,954
Assumed conversion of weighted average convertible preferred units — — — 1,472
Assumed conversion of weighted average convertible preferred shares — — — 1,197
Additional dilutive options — — — 45
Denominator for Diluted FFO per share 44,142 40,418 42,756 38,811

 

(1) Gains from the sale of real estate that are attributable to sales of non-operating properties are included in FFO.  Gains from newly-developed or re-developed properties
less accumulated depreciation, if any, required under GAAP are also included in FFO on the basis that development services are the primary revenue generating activity;
we believe that inclusion of these
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development gains is in compliance with the NAREIT definition of FFO, although others may interpret the definition differently.

 
Inflation

 
Our operations were not significantly affected by inflation during the periods presented in this report due primarily to the relatively low inflation rates in our markets. 

Most of our tenants are obligated to pay their share of a building’s operating expenses to the extent such expenses exceed amounts established in their leases, based on
historical expense levels.  In addition, some of our tenants are obligated to pay their full share of a building’s operating expenses.  These arrangements somewhat reduce our
exposure to increases in such costs resulting from inflation.

 
Our costs associated with constructing buildings and completing renovation and tenant improvement work increased due to higher cost of materials.  We expect to recover

a portion of these costs through higher tenant rents and reimbursements for tenant improvements.  The additional costs that we do not recover increase depreciation expense as
projects are completed and placed into service.
 
Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

We are exposed to certain market risks, the most predominant of which is change in interest rates.  Increases in interest rates can result in increased interest expense under
our Revolving Credit Facility and our other mortgage loans payable carrying variable interest rate terms.  Increases in interest rates can also result in increased interest
expense when our loans payable carrying fixed interest rate terms mature and need to be refinanced.  Our debt strategy favors long-term, fixed-rate, secured debt over
variable-rate debt to minimize the risk of short-term increases in interest rates.  As of September 30, 2004, 76.6% of our mortgage and other loans payable balance carried
fixed interest rates and 93.8% of our fixed-rate loans were scheduled to mature after 2005.  As of September 30, 2004, we also had one interest rate swap that expires after
2004 that fixes the one-month LIBOR base rate on a notional amount of $50.0 million, or 5.3% of our mortgage and other loans payable.  As of September 30, 2004, the
percentage of variable-rate loans (computed with the variable loan dollar amount being reduced by the $50.0 million interest rate swap expiring after 2004) relative to total
assets was 10.4%.

 
The following table sets forth our long-term debt obligations, principal cash flows by scheduled maturity and weighted average interest rates at September 30, 2004

(dollars in thousands):
 

For the Periods Ended December 31,
 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total
Long term debt:
Fixed rate $ 5,940 $ 39,201 $ 78,217 $ 75,572 $ 154,906 $ 371,792 $ 725,628(1)
Average interest rate 5.16% 6.05% 6.52% 6.39% 6.76% 5.85% 6.11 %
Variable rate $ 8,405 $ 48,841 $ — $ 164,390 $ — $ — $ 221,636
Average interest rate 3.41% 3.49% — 2.96% — — 3.39 %
 

(1)  Represents principal maturities only and therefore excludes net premiums and discounts of $68 thousand.
 

The fair market value of our mortgage and other loans payable was approximately $968.7 million at September 30, 2004.
 

48

 
The following table sets forth information pertaining to our derivative contract in place as of September 30, 2004 and its fair value:
 

Nature of
Derivative

Notional
Amount

One-Month
LIBOR base

Effective
Date

Expiration
Date

Fair value on
September 30, 2004

(in millions)
  

(in thousands)
Interest rate swap $ 50.0 2.308 % 1/2/03 1/3/05 $ (45 )

 
Based on our variable-rate debt balances, our interest expense would have increased by $1.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2004 if interest rates

were 1% higher.
 
Item 4.    Controls and Procedures
 
(a)           Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our management, with the participation of the our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.  Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report are functioning effectively to provide reasonable
assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported



within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  A controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute
assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within a company have been detected.
 
(b)           Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
PART II
 
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings
 

Not applicable
 
Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
(a)          During the three months ended September 30, 2004, 120,000 of the Operating Partnership’s common units were exchanged for 120,000 common shares in accordance with

the Operating Partnership’s Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement, as amended.  The issuance of these common shares was effected in reliance
upon the exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

 
(b)         Not applicable
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(c)        Not applicable
 
Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 
(a)   Not applicable
 
(b)         Not applicable
 
Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 

Not applicable
 
Item 5.  Other Information
 
(a)          Not applicable
 
(b)   Not applicable

 
Item 6.  Exhibits
 

EXHIBIT
NO.

 

DESCRIPTION
   
10.1.1 Sixteenth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Corporate Office Properties, L.P., dated

April 15, 2004 (filed with the Company’s Form 10-Q on May 7, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).
   
10.1.2 Seventeenth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Corporate Office Properties, L.P.,

dated September 23, 2004 (filed with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K on September 23, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference).

   
10.2 Credit Agreement, dated March 10, 2004, among the Company; the Operating Partnership; Wachovia Bank, National Association;

Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC; KeyBank National Association; Fleet National Bank and Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Company (filed with the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on September 23, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

   
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Corporate Office Properties Trust required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (filed herewith).
   
31.2 Certification of the Chief Operating Officer of Corporate Office Properties Trust required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (filed herewith).
   
31.3 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Corporate Office Properties Trust required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (filed herewith).
   
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Corporate Office Properties Trust required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. (This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities
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EXHIBIT
NO.

 

DESCRIPTION
   

Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.) (Furnished herewith.)



   
32.2 Certification of the Chief Operating Officer of Corporate Office Properties Trust required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. (This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.) (Furnished herewith.)

   
32.3 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Corporate Office Properties Trust required by Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. (This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.) (Furnished herewith.)

 
SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST

    
    
Date:  November 9, 2004 By: /s/ Randall M. Griffin

Randall M. Griffin
President and Chief Operating Officer

    
    
Date:  November 9, 2004 By: /s/ Roger A. Waesche, Jr.

Roger A. Waesche, Jr.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST
 

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
CERTIFICATIONS

 
I, Clay W. Hamlin, III, certify that:
 
1.             I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Corporate Office Properties Trust;
 
2.             Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)                                      Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)                                     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c)                                      Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)                                      All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)                                     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
 
Date: November 9, 2004 /s/ Clay W. Hamlin, III

Clay W. Hamlin, III
Chief Executive Officer

 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST
 

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
CERTIFICATIONS

 
I, Randall M. Griffin, certify that:
 
1.             I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Corporate Office Properties Trust;
 
2.             Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)                                      Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)                                     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c)                                      Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)                                      All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)                                     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
 
Date: November 9, 2004 /s/ Randall M. Griffin

Randall M. Griffin
President and Chief Operating Officer

 



EXHIBIT 31.3
 

CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST
 

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
CERTIFICATIONS

 
I, Roger A. Waesche, Jr., certify that:
 
1.                                       I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Corporate Office Properties Trust;
 
2.             Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)                                      Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)                                     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c)                                      Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)                                      All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)                                     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
 
Date: November 9, 2004 /s/ Roger A. Waesche, Jr.

Roger A. Waesche, Jr.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST
 

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(b) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Corporate Office Properties Trust (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004, as

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Clay W. Hamlin, III, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify that based on
my knowledge:

 
(1)           The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)           The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

 
 
/s/ Clay W. Hamlin, III
Clay W. Hamlin, III
Chief Executive Officer
 
Date: November 9, 2004

 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST
 

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(b) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Corporate Office Properties Trust (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004, as

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Randall M. Griffin, President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, certify
that based on my knowledge:

 
(1)           The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)           The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

 
 
/s/ Randall M. Griffin
Randall M. Griffin
President and Chief Operating Officer
 
Date: November 9, 2004
 



EXHIBIT 32.3
 

CORPORATE OFFICE PROPERTIES TRUST
 

CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED BY
RULE 13a-14(b) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Corporate Office Properties Trust (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004, as

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Roger A. Waesche, Jr., Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify that based on my knowledge:

 
(1)           The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)           The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

 
 
/s/ Roger A. Waesche, Jr.
Roger A. Waesche, Jr.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 
Date: November 9, 2004
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